
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £2.76 in 
printing costs

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for: Andrew Rees

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 15 January 2020

Dear Councillor, 

CABINET

A  meeting of the Cabinet will be held in the Committee Rooms 1/2/3, Civic Offices Angel Street 
Bridgend CF31 4WB on Tuesday, 21 January 2020 at 14:30.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  
To receive apologies for absence from Members. 

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008.

3. Approval of Minutes  3 - 12
To receive for approval the Minutes of 17/12/19

4. Budget Monitoring 2019-20 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast 13 - 44

5. Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2019-20 45 - 68

6. Non Domestic Rates: Discretionary Relief: High Street And Retail Rates Relief 
Scheme 2020-21 

69 - 76

7. Redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall 77 - 80

8. Bridgend Shopmobility Scheme 81 - 92

9. Work Experience Placements for Service Personnel Leaving the Armed Forces 93 - 96

10. Appointment of Local Authority Governors 97 - 100

11. Information Reports for Noting 101 - 116

12. Urgent Items  

Public Document Pack



To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson 
is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

13. Exclusion of the Public  
The following item is not for publication as it contains exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs 12 and 14 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5, Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

If following the application of the public interest test Cabinet resolves pursuant to the Act to 
consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such 
consideration.

14. School Modernisation Programme: Band B 117 - 138

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 

Councillors: Councillors Councillors
HJ David
CE Smith

PJ White
HM Williams

D Patel
RE Young



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD IN COMMITTEE ROOMS 1/2/3, CIVIC 
OFFICES ANGEL STREET BRIDGEND CF31 4WB ON TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019 AT 
14:30

Present

Councillor HJ David – Chairperson 

CE Smith HM Williams D Patel RE Young

Apologies for Absence

PJ White, Corporate Director – Social Services and Early Help

Officers:

Gill Lewis Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer
Kelly Watson Head of Legal & Regulatory Services
Mark Shephard Chief Executive
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support
Martin Morgans Head of Performance and Partnership Services
Zak Shell Head of Neighbourhood Services

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

16. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED:               That the minutes of the following meetings of Cabinet be 
approved as true and accurate records:-

                                     Special meeting – 13 November 2019
                                     Ordinary meeting – 19 November 2019

17. EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY

The Head of Performance and Partnership Services submitted a report, the purpose of 
which, was to seek approval from Cabinet to formally adopt the Empty Property Strategy 
2019-2023 attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

By way of background, he confirmed that bringing empty properties back into use is a 
priority for the Local Authority, as well as a commitment for the leadership for Bridgend 
County Borough Council.  The Strategy sets out the intention that  “the Council” and its 
partners shall seek to reduce empty properties across the Borough and help contribute 
towards increasing the availability of housing for sale or for rent’. 

In order to achieve this priority, an Empty Property Working Group had been formed, 
consisting of representatives from each service within the Authority that works with 
empty properties. The main objective of the Working Group is to deliver the strategic 
objectives of bringing back into use long-term empty residential properties.

Registered Landlords Association recognises the impact empty properties can have on 
an area and community and welcomed the proposals, and supported the need for a 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

robust strategy which provides clarification on the sanctions and enforcements actions 
available.   

A number of updates have been made to the draft Strategy and these were outlined in 
paragraph 4.6 of the report.

With regards to progress to date, the Head of Performance and Partnership Services 
advised, that in addition to reporting on the national empty property Public Accountability 
Measures (PAMs) annually, the work resulting from the Strategy will be measured and 
reported on in terms of the quantity of engagement and enforcement carried out, in order 
to demonstrate the efforts that are being made to bring empty properties back into use. 
This will include recording numbers of letters distributed, responses received, and 
enforcement action taken. Certain statistical information to date in respect of this, was 
shown in paragraph 4.7 of the report.

The impact of these activities has meant that, of the properties assessed and scored by 
the Council using the criteria contained within the Strategy as being in the top 20 list of 
problem properties:-

5 - are now in use
2 - are listed for auction this month
5 - are under discussion for possible Section 215 action 
2 - are For Sale following extensive engagement
1 – is held by Planning due to Bats roosting in the property which requires    Welsh 

Government Guidance 
3 - grant applications submitted but refused as eligibility criteria not met
2 - are under discussion with legal in relation to further enforcement action  to be taken  

The Strategy intervention will be measured and reported on, in terms of the quantity of 
engagement and enforcement carried out.

The Head of Performance and Partnership Services, concluded his submission, by 
confirming that as of April 2019 there were 1296 private sector residential properties that 
were empty for six months or more this accounts for 2% of residential properties.

The Cabinet Member – Future Generations and Wellbeing, extended her thanks to the 
Empty Property Working Group and the improvements that they had introduced, in 
respect of delivering the strategic objectives of bringing back into use long-term empty 
residential properties. She added that she looked forward to seeing further in-roads 
being made in the future, to making more properties habitable in the valley areas of the 
County Borough where there still remained a considerable number of vacant properties.

The Leader was pleased to see that the issue regarding Empty Properties in the County 
Borough had previously been considered by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and would be revisited in order to gauge progress, in March of next year. He 
hoped that in the future, the Council could consider putting a premium on Council Tax 
for properties that remained empty long term, as wherever possible, empty properties he 
felt should be occupied.

RESOLVED: That Cabinet formally adopted the Empty Property Strategy 2019-2023.    

18. WELSH GOVERNMENT FOUNDATIONAL ECONOMY CHALLENGE FUND

The Chief Executive submitted a report, the purpose of which, was to update Cabinet on 
an application for funding to the Welsh Government Foundational Economy Challenge 

Page 4



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

Fund and to seek Cabinet approval, to accept a funding offer and enter into agreements 
with delivery partners as appropriate.

By way of background, the report confirmed that the Welsh Government considers that 
the foundational economy consists of basic services and products that people rely on, 
that keep the population safe, sound and civilised. Examples of the foundational 
economy cited by Welsh Government were shown in bullet point format in paragraph 3.2 
of the report.

The Head of Operations – Community Services explained that the Welsh Government’s 
approach to supporting and developing the foundational economy, focused on three 
areas, as were detailed in paragraph 3.4 of the report.

In support of this, the Welsh Government had established the following:-

 The Economic Action Plan (EAP) which has set the direction for a 
broader and more balanced approach to economic development with a 
shift towards a focus on ‘place’ and making communities stronger and 
more resilient.

 A Ministerial Advisory Board Task and Finish Group on the Foundational 
Economy to provide advice to Welsh Ministers on current and future 
interventions and best practice; support wider engagement with 
stakeholders in the foundational economy; and promote a joining-up of 
relevant government and non-governmental initiatives.

This included a £4.5m fund to support the Foundational Economy Fund.

Following the launch of the fund, Officers submitted a proposal for funding the B-Ridges 
project in July 2019.

The Head of Operations – Community Services then added, that Bridgend County 
Borough Council (BCBC) has received notification from Welsh Government that the 
proposal for the B-Ridges project has been approved.  The B-Ridges project will have 
the strapline of: Bridgend County – Retail | Invest | Develop | Grow | Evolve | Sustain. 

The B-Ridges project aims to create a support package to allow business start–ups in 
Bridgend and Maesteg town centres to become sustainable. These areas are targeted 
as they fall within the Valleys Taskforce area and are therefore eligible for the ring-
fenced funding.  Officers will however engage with other funders to seek opportunities to 
further extend the approach being undertaken by the B-Ridges project into other areas 
of the County Borough.  

The proposal for the B-Ridges project has been offered a £75k grant towards a total 
project cost of £100k, with the gap in funding being supplemented by the ‘Kickstart’ 
funding programme.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration advised that the funding would be 
helpful for businesses looking to set-up in the towns of Bridgend and Maesteg. He 
congratulated Officers for seeking out such funding opportunities.

The Leader added that if the scheme was successful and more funding was secured in 
the future, then we could look to implement this into other towns in the County Borough 
ie Porthcawl and Pencoed.

RESOLVED:               That  Cabinet:

Page 5



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

(1) Noted the approval of funding from Welsh Government for the delivery of 
the B-Ridges project to trial new approaches to enable new foundation 
economy business to start trading from the town centres; support 
currently empty units to become occupied; provide business advice 
support to start-up foundation economy businesses; assist new business 
to create new jobs. 

(2) Authorised the Head of Operations – Community Services, in consultation 
with the Section 151 Officer and Head of Legal and Regulatory Services, 
to enter into appropriate agreements to accept the funding and deliver the 
project.

19. OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION 'SHAPING BRIDGEND'S FUTURE'

The Interim Head of Finance and S151 Officer submitted a report, the purpose of which, 
was to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the ‘Shaping Bridgend’s Future’ 2019 
consultation, which asked citizens to share their views on a number of key budget 
proposals being considered over the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) period.

The report provided an overview of the budget consultation activities, analysis and key 
findings.

The Chief Executive confirmed that Bridgend County Borough Council had made 
reductions from its budget of £27.07m over the last four years, with an expectation of 
significant further reductions required over the coming four years.

He added that a public consultation exercise was undertaken over an eight week period 
from 9 September 2019 to 3 November 2019. Respondents were asked to share their 
views on a range of budget proposals being considered between 2020-21 and 2023-24, 
including proposed increases to council tax and considering cutbacks to services 
including street cleaning, CCTV, pest control, town centre events, adult learning, 
education support services, as well as closing one of its three community recycling 
centres.

The report advised how the budget consultation process in terms of engagement with 
the public regarding this, had evolved since its introduction in 2013-14, including with a 
variety of age groups that included the younger generation in society.

Attached to the report at Appendix A was a Consultation Report that set out the views 
expressed by those who had participated in this this year, with the response rate and 
methods by which respondents interacted set out in table format in paragraph 4.3 of the 
report.

Paragraph 4.4 then outlined some headline figures and themes arising from the public 
consultation and the Chief Executive gave a resume of these, for the benefit of 
Members.

The Deputy Leader noted that with 3,417 responses having been received to the 
surveys, this represented a 27% increase compared with last year’s total of 2,677 
responses, which he felt was a considerable improvement in  the consultation process. 
This gave the Council a more accurate picture on where the public wanted money to be 
spent/cut in terms of services the Authority provided, etc.

The Cabinet Member – Future Generations and Wellbeing extended her thanks to 
organisations such as BAVO and Halo for also facilitating some of the sessions, that 

Page 6



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

were extended to a wide area of the communities that comprise the County Borough. 
She noted that 3,417 surveys had been completed and asked how many of these had 
been completed in welsh.

The Consultation, Engagement and Equalities Officer, advised that there had been 12 
responses received in welsh, 5 of which came from the Citizens Panel.

The Cabinet Member – Future Generations and Wellbeing added that of all the 
Community Centres and Schools visited, were there any main differences in terms of 
feedback received from the two.

The Consultation, Engagement and Equalities Officer, confirmed that feedback from 
younger people reflected that they had more balanced views than perhaps some of the 
older generation, in that they wished to protect a more variety of services.

The Cabinet Member – Communities felt that the consultation process was becoming 
more valuable and meaningful year on year as public participation increased during this 
period. The public were also becoming more understanding of the pressures the Council 
were facing (also year on year), due to continued cuts to its budget.

The Chief Executive agreed with this, adding that at the consultation sessions, Officers 
explained to the public, service areas where it was easier to make cuts, as well as other 
relevant information, for example, the difference between capital and revenue 
expenditure, etc.

The Leader concluded debate on this item, by thanking Welsh Government for the 4.7% 
increase in settlement the Council would receive this coming year.

RESOLVED: That Cabinet noted the outcome of the consultation with interested parties 
as detailed in the consultation report.

20. ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS GRANT

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support submitted a report, in order to 
seek approval from Cabinet to enter into an agreement with Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council (“RCT”), the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff, Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council and the Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council 
regarding the Additional Learning Needs Transformation Grant 2019/20.

Background information within the report, confirmed that the Additional Learning Needs 
Transformation Grant 2019/20 (“ALN Grant”) is a Welsh Government grant funded 
scheme to support the delivery of the additional learning needs transformation 
programme, including the preparation for and management of the implementation of the 
Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2019 (“ALNET Act”). 

RCT, acting as Lead Authority, submitted an application to Welsh Government for the 
ALN Grant on behalf of the council, the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff, 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the Vale of Glamorgan County Borough 
Council and third party providers (who are further education sector and local health 
boards in the regions of the councils).

The application for ALN Grant was successful and an award of funding for up to 
£949,656.00 was made to RCT as Lead Authority which will be allocated to each 
Council in accordance with the ALN Transformation Plan.

Page 7



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

As Lead Authority, the Corporate Director – Education and Family Support confirmed, 
RCT is required to accept the terms and conditions of the ALN Grant as set out in the 
offer letter from Welsh Government. In order to deliver the project and ensure 
compliance with the terms and conditions set out in the offer letter, RCT requires the 
Council, along with the 3 other local authorities listed at paragraph 3.2 of the report, to 
enter into an agreement in relation to this ALN Grant. This agreement shall set out the 
roles and responsibilities of the councils and how the funding shall be allocated. 

He added that, the Inclusion Service leads from each local authority meet on a monthly 
basis with the ALN Transformation Lead at the Transformation Board. During this 
meeting, the ALN Implementation Plan and grant spend is monitored.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration, confirmed that the funding 
secured, went a long way to support some of the provisions of the ALNET Act and the 
growing area of need for people with ALN.

RESOLVED:              That Cabinet:

1. Approved the Council entering into the agreement with RCT, the County Council 
of the City and County of Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the 
Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council.

2. Delegated authority to the Corporate Director Education and Family Support in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and Head of Legal and Regulatory 
Services to negotiate and agree the terms of the agreement and enter into the 
agreement.

21. LICENSING ACT 2003, STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY AND CUMULATIVE 
IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The Team Manager – Licensing submitted a report, which related to the Council’s role 
as a licensing authority, as the regulatory body for pubs, clubs, off-licences and late 
night takeaways.

The purpose of the report was to seek approval to publish the Statement of Licensing 
Policy for the next five year period and to approve a special Cumulative Impact 
Assessment and Policy as part of that process.

The Team Manager – Licensing explained that the Council must undertake its functions 
to promote the licensing objectives of:

• Prevention of crime and disorder;
• Prevention of public nuisance;
• Public safety;
•         The protection of children from harm

She confirmed that the Council became the Licensing Authority in 2005 and it was now 
time for the five year review of the Statement of Licensing Policy.  This is a formal 
process and the statutory process was outlined at paragraph 3.2 of the report.  The 
Consultation with regards to this she explained, took the form of an online consultation 
between 17 June 2019 and 9 September 2019.  The statutory consultees included the 
Police, Fire Authority, Shared Regulatory Services, the local Health Board, other Council 
departments and the Home Office.

It also included all Elected Members, Town and Community Councils, the Town Centre 
Manager and trade representatives.

Page 8



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

The Statement of Licensing Policy sets out how the Council exercises its functions and 
the approach to decision making.  It also sets out what it expects prospective applicants 
to consider when preparing applications for new licences or major variations.  Section 9 
of the policy sets out a number of measures which could be considered, depending on 
the style of the premises.  The Team Manager – Licensing advised, that other than in 
the Bridgend Town Centre, the consultation did not result in any new trends or issues 
which would merit a change in policy.  As a result, the proposed over-arching Statement 
was at Appendix A to the report.  The changes to this she pointed out, were highlighted 
in red.  They related firstly to updates made to the Council’s corporate objectives.  A 
number of Directorates had changed in their shape or levels of area of responsibility and 
in view of that, some revisions at page 40 of report needed to be further looked at, ie 
where some of the addresses of the bodies so listed there, required updating. 
 
The second issue explained the Team Manager – Licensing, related to the Special 
Cumulative Impact Policy in place in Bridgend Town Centre.
Cumulative Impact is a term used to describe how a density of licensed premises in a 
particular area can have a negative impact on crime and disorder, littering, anti-social 
behaviour and nuisance.  If a Council identified that there is an evidence problem in an 
area, it can include a policy to address Cumulative Impact within the main Policy 
Statement.  Such a policy has been in place in Bridgend Town Centre Streets since 
2005.  The effect of this policy is to control the number of new premises or major 
changes to premises within the area. The policy effectively creates a rebuttable 
presumption of all new applications and variations, unless the applicant can demonstrate 
that their premises will not add to the problems being experienced within that location.

The main change this year is that the Council must undertake an Assessment of 
Cumulative Impact and publish a separate document before adopting a policy for a 
specific area.  

She further explained as was also outlined in the report, that the South Wales Police 
was asking the Council to retain the policy which relates to the Bridgend Town Centre 
streets of Derwen Road, Market Street, Wyndham Street and parts of Nolton Street.  
Their letter to this effect, was attached at Appendix B to the report. 

In terms of the licensing objectives, the South Wales Police had concluded that having a 
cumulative impact policy has had a direct bearing on the reduction of recorded crime 
within the town centre and also, incidents of reported anti-social behaviour.  

The draft Assessment added the Team Manager – Licensing, was included  at Appendix 
C to the report.   As part of the public consultation, she advised that a questionnaire was 
included to identify issues of concern relating to licensed premises within the town 
centre.

The sample size is small, ie totalling 15, with members of the public, interested parties 
and licence holders having replied to such consultation.  
93% were in favour of retaining the cumulative impact policy and the top issues of 
concern were listed in bullet point format in paragraph 4.7 of the report.

The policy was one of a set of measures that can be used to control the impact of 
licensed premises, which involve enforcement, the use of CCTV and trade schemes, 
such as Pubwatch.
  
The Team Manager – Licensing outlined that the conclusion of the assessment, was that 
there is evidence to support the continuation of a cumulative impact policy for Bridgend 

Page 9



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

town centre and that is a proportionate measure to address the problems so identified 
there.

The effect of adopting the policy will create a rebuttable presumption that where relevant 
representations are received, most likely from the police in relation to crime and 
disorder, but it could relate to public nuisance as well, applications for new premises or 
variations of existing premises will be refused, unless the applicant can demonstrate that 
the application will not add to the negative impact in the town centre streets covered by 
the policy.  

Though this was not a blanket policy, it does place the onus on the operator.

She stated that if the responsible authorities or public, have no concern about the 
proposed style or operation of the premises and do not make representations, then the 
application would be granted.

The Team Manager – Licensing concluded her submission, by confirming that the policy 
aims to reduce incidents of alcohol related problems and crime and disorder, as well as 
to ensure that Bridgend Town Centre is a safe environment for people both visiting and 
working in the area.

The Cabinet Member – Future Generations and Wellbeing advised that she was pleased 
to note, that the revised Policy would go some way to mitigating concerns in respect of 
ant-social behaviour, particularly in Bridgend town centre and particularly the saturation 
areas of the town where there are a considerable number of late night establishments in 
close proximity of each other.

The Leader expressed his disappointment in the number of responses received to the 
consultation, as well as pointing out, that all four towns in the County Borough should be 
referred to and/or included in the Policy.

RESOLVED: That Cabinet noted the report which would be presented to Council on 
18 December 2019.

22. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Head of Legal and Regulatory Services presented a report, in order to seek Cabinet 
approval for items to be included on the Forward Work Programme (FWP) for the period 
1 January to 30 April 2020.

She confirmed that in accordance with a provision of the Council’s Constitution, the FWP 
will be prepared by the Monitoring Officer to cover generally a period of four months. It 
would also contain matters which the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees and 
Council are likely to consider.

The proposed FWP’s for the next period were shown attached to the report, as follows:-

 Cabinet – Appendix 1
 Council – Appendix 2
 Overview and Scrutiny – Appendix 3

The Cabinet Member – Future Generations and Wellbeing, noted from the report’s 
supporting information, that there were some interesting topics on the Overview and 
Scrutiny FWP and that due to this, it may be worth considering web casting some of 
these meetings for the benefit of the interest of the public.

Page 10



CABINET - TUESDAY, 17 DECEMBER 2019

RESOLVED:                That Cabinet:-

1. Approved the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period 1 January to 30 
April 2020 at Appendix 1 to the report.

2. Noted the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes as 
shown at Appendix 2 and 3 of the report, respectively.

23. INFORMATION REPORTS FOR NOTING

The Head of Legal and Regulatory Services presented a report, that informed Cabinet of 
an Information Report for noting (attached thereto) that had been published since its last 
scheduled meeting.

Details of the Information Report was shown in paragraph 4.1 of the covering report.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration and the Leader in turn, 
commended all three schools following the recent inspection of West Park Primary; the 
revisit of Tynyrheol Primary and the review of progress at Cynffig Comprehensive.

RESOLVED: That Cabinet acknowledged the publication of the document listed in the 
report.

24. URGENT ITEMS

None.

The meeting closed at 15:50

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
21 JANUARY 2020 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE 

 
BUDGET MONITORING 2019-20 – QUARTER 3 REVENUE FORECAST 

 
1.0 Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial position as at 31st December 2019.  
 
2.0 Connections to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 

Priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priorities:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a 
good place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions of all people in the county.  

 
2. Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce or 

prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and 
its services. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s corporate 

priorities can be delivered.  
 
3.0 Background 
 
3.1 On 20th February 2019, Council approved a net revenue budget of £270.809 million 

for 2019-20. As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget 
projections are reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  
The delivery of agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to 
Cabinet as part of this process.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



4.0  Current Situation / Proposal 
 

4.1 Summary financial position at 31st December 2019 
 
4.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and projected outturn for 2019-20 is shown in 

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 31st December 2019 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q3 

Projected Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend  

Projected 
Over / 

(Under) 
Spend 

  2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 Qtr 2 2019-20 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate           
            
Education and Family Support 116,208 114,949 115,509 560 594 
Social Services and Wellbeing 70,834 71,582 72,267 685 918 
Communities  25,331 25,862 25,680 (182) 32 

Chief Executive's 18,609 18,622 17,644 (978) (885) 

Total Directorate Budgets 230,982 231,015 231,100 85 659 

Council Wide Budgets           

            

Capital Financing  7,430 7,329 6,766 (563) (570) 

Levies 7,376 7,134 7,117 (17) 0 

Apprenticeship Levy 700 700 620 (80) (77) 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 14,854 14,854 14,637 (217) (103) 

Insurance Premiums 1,588 1,588 1,339 (249) (258) 

Repairs & Maintenance 870 870 870 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 436 6 0 

Other Corporate Budgets 6,579 6,889 2,735 (4,154) (3,800) 

Total Council Wide Budgets 39,827 39,794 34,520 (5,274) (4,808) 

            

Appropriations to Earmarked 
Reserves     4,391 4,391 3,574 

            

Total 270,809 270,809 270,011 (798) (575) 

 
 
4.1.2 The overall projected position at 31st December 2019 is a net under spend of 

£798,000 comprising £85,000 net over spend on directorates and £5.274 million 
net under spend on council wide budgets, offset by net appropriation to 
earmarked reserves of £4.391 million.   

 
4.1.3 The main reason for the under spend of £4.154 million on ‘Other Corporate 

Budgets’ is due to Welsh Government advising local authorities of additional 
grant funding being made available during 2019-20 to meet the increased cost of 
teachers’ pensions (£2,006,096), fire service pensions (£272,405), and teachers’ 
pay increases (£343,701), all of which were originally funded in full through the 
MTFS. In June 2019 Council approved that an ‘Investing in Communities Fund’ 
be established with £2 million of this funding to support the capital minor works 
programme by enabling more capital improvement works to be undertaken on 
Council assets in our local communities.  Other movements in earmarked 

Page 14



reserves can be found in section 4.4.  In addition, given the significant funding 
required to meet pay, prices and pension costs in 2020-21, any uncommitted 
funding in 2019-20 will be carried forward to meet those pressures in the new 
financial year. 

 
4.1.4 The Council received its provisional local government settlement for 2020-21 

from Welsh Government on the 16th December 2019.  A report was presented to 
Cabinet on the 14th January 2020 on the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2020-21 to 2023-24 which set out the spending priorities of the Council, key 
investment objectives and budget areas targeted for necessary savings. The 
strategy includes a financial forecast for 2020-2024 and a detailed draft revenue 
budget for 2020-21.  It is clear from the report that there will be difficult choices 
to make and pressures to meet going forward.  In addition, there is still one 
quarter of the financial year remaining and there are a number of volatile 
budgets which could impact upon this position, particularly during the winter 
months.   

 
4.1.5 A detailed analysis of the more significant projected under and over spends is 

set out in section 4.3.  The position on directorate budgets has improved since 
quarter 2, with the projected over spend reducing by £574,000.  This is primarily 
due to maximisation of grant funding within the Social Services and Wellbeing 
Directorate along with improved projections on development income within the 
Communities Directorate due to a number of large planning applications being 
received/due before the end of the financial year. 

 
4.1.6 There have been no budget virements, but several technical adjustments 

between budgets since the quarter 2 forecast was reported to Cabinet on the 
22nd October 2019.  The main technical adjustments are outlined below: 

 
 Technical Adjustments 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of 
outstanding pay and price inflation e.g costs of meeting 
National Living Wage for external care providers and 
confirmed increases in costs of external contracts 

£780,851 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of teachers 
pay award (£503,054) and pension (£132,123) 19-20 net of 
grant 

£635,177 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of 
contingency requests for Home to School Transport and 
Schools Causing Concern 

£340,947 

Allocation of funding from education central budget 
(recoupment) to school delegated budget to fund increase in 
pupil numbers at special schools 

£88,372 

Re-allocation of budget growth from education central budget 
to school delegated budget to fund opening of ASD bases in 
schools 

£75,409 

Transfer of staff from Business Support (Communities) to the 
Chief Executive’s Directorate 

£48,940 

 
 

Page 15



4.1.7 As mentioned in the quarter 2 report, Welsh Government made additional grant 
funding available during 2019-20 to meet the increased cost of teachers’ 
pension and fire service pensions along with additional grant funding towards 
teacher’s pay increases.  The shortfall in 2019-20 has been met as shown in the 
technical adjustments table above. The MTFS report to Cabinet on the 14th 
January indicated that the increase in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) for 
Bridgend of 4.7% for Bridgend in 2020-21 will be required to fund the full year 
effect of the teachers’ pay and pensions increases for the period April to August 
2020, the future impacts of teachers’ pay awards which will come into effect 
from September 2020 and to provide funding for free school meals, given the 
continued rollout of Universal Credit by the UK Government. This is in addition 
to other pressures such as the non-teachers’ pay increase from April 2020 (not 
yet agreed) and other legislative and demographic pressures, including rising 
pupil numbers. 

 
4.1.8 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation 

of the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, 
which amount to £7.621 million.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have 
been delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with 
identifying alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy 
management, or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. 

 
4.1.9 The draft Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020-21 to 2023-24, presented to 

Cabinet on 14th January 2020 included a number of pressures facing Welsh 
Councils over the life of the MTFS.  This reiterated the need to develop recurrent 
budget reduction proposals, based on the most likely scenario, amounting to 
£29.332 million over the next four years.  Against that background, it is essential 
that expenditure is kept within the overall approved budget and that longer term 
proposals continue to be developed so that the Council has as much flexibility as 
possible to meet the challenges which lie ahead.   

 
4.1.10 At year end consideration will be given to requests from directors to carry forward 

any planned directorate under spends for specific purposes into the following year, 
in line with the Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol, as long as these can be 
met from within the Council’s cash limited budget for 2019-20. This is in line with the 
reports to Cabinet and Council on the MTFS, and the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules. Similarly, consideration will be given to any budget over spends to determine 
whether these should be carried forward as a first call on the directorate budget for 
the following year. Finally, outstanding prudential borrowing will be repaid, where 
possible, to reduce future capital financing charges. However, a decision will not be 
made until towards the end of the financial year when the overall outturn position is 
more definite.   

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
4.2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 18th June 2019 on Financial Performance 

2018-19. In the report it was highlighted that, for 2016-17 to 2018-19, there were 
£2.342 million of budget reduction proposals that were not met in full, with a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £1.519 million. Directors have been asked to 
identify if any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 
2019-20 financial year, and to identify mitigating action that will be undertaken to 

Page 16



achieve them.  A summary of the latest position is attached as Appendix 1 with a 
summary per directorate provided in Table 2.  

 
4.2.2 The Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate has developed a Future Service 

Delivery Plan, which was presented to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
in March 2018, and which outlines the Directorate’s response to the financial 
challenge facing them, not least setting out the planned actions to be undertaken in 
order to meet the shortfall. This will be monitored continuously throughout 2019-20. 

 
 Table 2 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 222 20 202 

Social Services and Wellbeing 918 673 245 

Communities 1,202 1,102 100 

TOTAL 2,342 1,795 547 

 
4.2.3 Table 2 shows that of the £2.342 million outstanding reductions, £1.795 million is 

likely to be achieved in 2019-20 leaving a shortfall of £547,000. Proposals still not 
likely to be achieved include: 

 
o Learner Transport Policy and Transport Route efficiencies (£127,000) due to 

delays in assessments of safe routes. 
o Review of Special Schools Home to School Transport (£75,000) as currently 

out to mini-tender. 
o Permitting Scheme for Road Works (£100,000) due to delays in approval 

process with Welsh Government. 
   
 The balance mainly relates to proposals set out in the Social Services and 

Wellbeing Service Delivery Plan that are profiled over two to three years. 
 
4.2.4 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget. An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. A Budget 
Reduction Contingency was established in 2016-17. This reserve has been used to 
meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a one-off basis 
pending alternative measures. Following agreement with the S151 Officer, it is 
being used in 2019-20 to mitigate the on-going shortfall on the following budget 
reductions proposals:- 

 
 

Page 17



MTFS Reference Original Saving 
Proposal 
£’000 

Funding from MTFS 
Budget Reduction 

Contingency Reserve  
£’000 

COM 52 - MREC 1,300 500 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy 
(17-18) 

20 20 

EFS 2 – School Transport Route 
Efficiencies (17-18) 

40 40 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy 
(18-19) 

67 67 

EFS 1 – Learner Transport Policy 
(19-20) 

67 67 

TOTAL 1,494 694 

 
During the remainder of the financial year the S151 Officer will consider further 
applications from directorates to the MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency Reserve 
to mitigate further shortfalls. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2019-20 
 
4.2.5 The budget approved for 2019-20 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£7.621 million, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 3 
below.  The current position is a projected shortfall on the savings target of £1.111 
million, or 14.5% of the overall reduction target.  

 
 
 Table 3 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2019-20 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION AREA £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 596 529 67 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 1,235 1,125 110 

Communities 1,938 1,079 859 

Chief Executive's 1,464 1,384 80 

Council Wide Budgets 2,388 2,388 0 

TOTAL 7,621 6,505 1,116 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 A comparison of the RAG status position against Quarter 2 is provided below:- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 The main shift has been from reductions classed as amber to green between 

Quarters 2 and 3. 
 
4.2.6 The most significant budget reduction proposals unlikely to be achieved in full 

include: 
 

o EFS1 - Phased Implementation of Learner Transport Policy (£67,000) – no 
saving likely to be achieved in 2019-20. 

o SSW22 – Further savings from library and cultural facilities (£60,000) – no 
saving likely to be achieved in 2019-20. 

o COM52 – Reduction to the budget for the MREC (£1,300,000) - £650,000 
likely to be achieved in 2019-20. 

   
4.2.7 Appendix 2 identifies the projected amount of saving against these proposals in 

detail and action to be taken by the directorate to mitigate the shortfall. Directors 
continue to work with their staff to deliver their proposals or identify alternatives and 
this is reflected in the forecast outturn for the year.  In the longer term, these 
proposals must be realised or met through alternative budget reduction proposals in 
order to deliver a balanced budget position.   

 
4.3 Commentary on the financial position as at 31st December 2019 
 
 A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 

Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below.  Actions are being taken by those directorates currently reporting a 
projected over spend to try to resolve issues that led to the current position or 
alternatively to identify offsetting savings in other areas of the service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 2019-20 2019-20 

 Q 2 Q 3 

 £'000 % £'000 % 

Green 5,155 68% 5,495 72% 

Amber 1,009 13% 664 9% 

Red 1,457 19% 1,462 19% 

Total 7,621 100% 7,621 100% 

Page 19



4.3.1 Education and Family Support Directorate 
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2019-20 is £114.949 million. The Directorate 
(excluding Schools) contains savings targets of £596,000 for 2019-20.  Current 
projections indicate an over spend of £560,000 at year end. The main variances 
are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget  

Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Inclusion 2,430 2,848                 418  17.2% 

Home to School Transport 5,468 6,229                 761  13.9% 

Strategic Management 1,594 1,569                (25) -1.6% 

Catering Services 939 887                (52) -5.5% 

Emotional Health & Behaviour 1,851 1,785                (66) -3.6% 

Integrated Working 1,488 1,300              (188) -12.6% 

Health & Safety 384 247              (137) -35.7% 

Skills 107 51                (56) -52.3% 

Youth Justice 361 307                (54) -15.0% 

 
Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced as any under or over spend 
is automatically carried forward into the new financial year before being considered 
by the Director of Education and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance on 
Managing School Surplus Balances’. At Quarter 3 for 2019-20 there are 25 primary 
schools and 3 secondary schools (46% of all schools) that are projecting a deficit 
balance at year end. In total the Quarter 3 projections indicate an overall deficit 
balance for school delegated budgets of £1.09 million at year end. 

 
 Central Education and Family Support Budgets 

 
Inclusion 

 The over spend of £418,000 primarily relates to a deficit in the recoupment budget 
(£389,000).  This is mainly due to that fact that there are currently only 20 out of 
county placements at Heronsbridge School and Ysgol Bryn Castell compared with 
30 in the Summer Term 2018, impacting on the anticipated income levels. 

 
Home to School Transport 

 There is an over spend of £761,000 on Home to School Transport. There is still 
significant pressure on the home-to-school transport budget.  Although a significant 
budget reduction of £1.794m has been applied to the learner transport budget to 
support the MTFS since 2014-2015, the change of policy approved by Cabinet in 
September 2015 has not delivered significant enough savings to support this large 
budget reduction. The ‘in-receipt’ and ‘sibling rule’ entitlement has meant that, year-
on-year, the number of pupils the policy change applies to, is relatively small.  As a 
result a contribution of £194,000 has been agreed by the S151 Officer from the 
MTFS Budget Contingency Reserve as outlined in paragraph 4.2.4. 

 As well as an increase in eligible learners, there is also significant pressure on 
transport providers with many not tendering for smaller contracts as they do not 

Page 20



consider them to be profitable.  Limited competition is increasing the costs 
associated with some contracts, especially where specialist vehicles are required 
e.g. those with tail-lifts.  The requirement for specialist transport provision for pupils 
with additional learning needs (ALN) is increasing costs in general. 

 A report was approved by Cabinet on the 23rd July 2019 to commence a 12 week 
public consultation starting in September 2019 on proposed changes to the Local 
Authority Home to School/College Transport policy. 

 At the start of the 2019-20 academic year a large number of contracts were handed 
back by transport providers after a competitive tender process.  This left the local 
authority in a very difficult position, with the awarding of these contracts to other 
contractors at short notice.  This increased the total value of the retendered 
contracts by approximately £100,000 annually. 

 The Corporate Strategic Transport Review will aim to identify opportunities for 
efficiency savings within the school transport budget and elsewhere across the 
local authority’s transport services. 

 Several hundred pupils in both primary and secondary schools who are not eligible 
for free home-to-school transport have been identified as currently benefiting from 
it.  There are significant savings possible if transport is removed from these pupils, 
as whole contracts can be cancelled.  This can be achieved by providing one term’s 
notice to pupils and parents. 

 
Strategic Management 

 The under spend of £25,000 is as a result of a review of non-staffing budgets 
across the directorate, which are being held to mitigate over spends across other 
directorate service areas. These will be considered as part of future years’ MTFS 
savings. 

 
Catering Services 

 The under spend of £52,000 has arisen as a result of a 3.31% increase in primary 
school meal take up compared with when the budgets were set at the start of the 
financial year.  Take up of school meals will require close in-year monitoring.  

 
Emotional Health & Behaviour 

 The under spend of £66,000 is a combination of increased use of Ty Lidiard 
(provision of education to children who are not able to attend school because they 
are in hospital) by other Local Authorities and the increased level of clawback from 
schools for the Education Other Than At School (EOTAS) provision, i.e. recoupment 
of the pupil funding from the respective schools whilst they are receiving EOTAS. 

 
Integrated Working 

 The under spend of £188,000 relates to current staff vacancies within the service.  
The vacant posts are expected to be filled during the remainder of the financial 
year. 

 
Health and Safety 

 The under spend of £137,000 relates to current staff vacancies within the service.  
The service area is currently going through a recruitment process to fill these 
vacancies. 

 
Skills 

 The under spend of £56,000 relates to maximisation of grant draw down within the 
service area. 

Page 21



 
Youth Justice 

 The under spend of £54,000 relates to current staff vacancies within the service.  
The service area is currently going through a review to fill these vacancies. 

 
 
4.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The Directorate’s net budget for 2019-20 is £71.582 million. The Directorate budget 
contains savings targets of £1.235 million for 2019-20. Current projections indicate 
an over spend of £685,000 at year end which has improved from the quarter 2 
projection of £918,000 primarily due to maximisation of grant income. The main 
variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget  

Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Care at home for Older People 8,503 8,164              (339) -4.0% 

Care at Home for Physical Disabilities 1,644 1,480              (164) -10.0% 

Equipment and Adaptations 858 1,094                 236  27.5% 

Assessment and Care Management 5,022 4,485              (537) -10.7% 

Learning Disabilities Residential Care 1,930 2,087                 157  8.1% 

Care at Home for Learning Disabilities 9,635 9,947                 312  3.2% 

Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities 2,957 3,257                 300  10.1% 

Mental Health Supported & Other 
Accommodation 

 
202 

 
79 (123) -60.9% 

Looked After Children 11,557 12,610             1,053  9.1% 

Commissioning & Social Work 5,087 4,948              (139) -2.7% 

Sports, Play and Active Wellbeing 5,165 5,126                (39) -0.8% 

 
Care at Home for Older People 

 Care at home includes domiciliary care services, local authority homecare services 
and the provision of direct payments. The net under spend of £339,000 is a 
combination of an over spend on the Direct Payments budget due to an increase in 
the number of cases, offset by an under spend on the homecare budget primarily 
due to difficulties in recruiting to care posts and the implementation of a restructure. 

 

Care at Home for Physical Disabilities 
 There is a projected net under spend of £164,000 which is made up of a 

combination of an over spend on direct payments (65 clients at Quarter 3 compared 
with 60 clients at Quarter 1) offset by a consequential under spend on external 
domiciliary care and care attendants.  The service area has also benefited from 
receiving more joint health funding than originally anticipated. 

 
Equipment and Adaptations 

 There is a projected over spend of £236,000 as a result of increased use of aids 
and equipment, along with servicing costs.  These costs are seen as a preventative 
measure to keep service users out of long term care, and therefore reduce pressure 
on other service area budgets. 

 
 

Page 22



Assessment and Care Management (ACMT) 

 There is a projected under spend of £537,000 on all assessment and care 
management budgets across the directorate.  £173,000 of this is due to the receipt 
of additional Integrated Care Fund funding with the balance due to staff vacancies.  
The directorate manages its staff vacancies stringently in order to achieve cost 
savings in-year. 

 
Learning Disabilities Residential Care 

 There is a projected over spend of £157,000 which relates mainly to the complexity 
of needs and resulting high cost despite a reduced number of service users (26 
current placements (including respite), down from 28 placements as at Quarter 2). 

 
Care at Home for People with Learning Disabilities 

 There is a projected over spend of £312,000 mainly due to the complexity of needs 
and number of service users receiving direct payments or receiving domiciliary care 
within a home setting or supported accommodation.  

 
Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities 

 There is a projected over spend of £300,000 mainly due to the cost of external day 
service provision.  These costs are considerably less than ‘one to one’ care 
provision and this therefore reduces pressure on other service areas within the 
directorate. 

 
 Mental Health Supported & Other Accommodation 

 A projected under spend of £123,000 is due to a combination of staffing under 
spends (£93,000) as a result of a staff restructure and additional income (£37,000) 
from accommodation fees and rent within BCBC accommodation. 

 
Looked After Children (LAC)  

 There is a projected over spend of £1.053 million.  This represents 9.1% of the 
overall budget for LAC.  This has increased from the Quarter 2 projected over 
spend (£694,000) due to a combination of factors.  

 The implementation of a new model for residential services has required increased 
staffing due to the complexities/risk behaviours of the young people placed over 
recent months (some of which have been court directed) as an alternative to being 
placed with independent providers out of county 

 We have 9 children in out of authority placements with the most recent admissions 
requiring specialist support and high staffing ratios (including secure Childrens’ 
home provision). 

 The average number of LAC this financial year is 381 compared with an average of 
376 in 2018-19.  This can fluctuate month to month and will require ongoing 
monitoring in-year. 

 The average number of independent fostering placements (IFAs) this financial year 
is 67 compared to 61 in 2018-19. This can fluctuate month to month and again will 
require ongoing monitoring in-year. 

 
 Commissioning & Social Work 

 A projected under spend of £139,000 is mainly due to staffing under spends due to 
difficulty in recruiting social workers.  

 
 
 

Page 23



Sports, Play and Active Wellbeing 

 A projected under spend of £39,000 relates to current staff vacancies in the service 
area. 

 
4.3.3 Communities Directorate 

 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2019-20 is £25.862 million.  The Directorate 
budget contains savings targets of £1.938 million for 2019-20. The current 
projection is an anticipated under spend of £182,000. The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE 
Net  

Budget  
Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Planning and Development 438 506                   68  15.5% 

Regeneration 2,295 2,157              (138) -6.0% 

Waste Disposal 3,325 3,450                 125  3.8% 

Waste Collection 5,178 5,405                 227  4.4% 

Highways Services 2,746 2,496              (250) -9.1% 

Engineering 49 -51              (100) -204.1% 

Fleet Services 52 225                 173  332.7% 

Parking Services -336 -520              (184) 54.8% 

Corporate Director - Communities 146 25              (121) -82.9% 

 
 Planning and Development 

 The projected over spend in Planning and Development of £68,000 is partly due to 
a projected shortfall in income of £168,000 within the Policy and Development 
Section.  This income is linked directly to the amount of Section 38 fees received – 

these fees are charged to developers and relate to assessments and inspection of 
new street works. Due to the nature of Section 38 fees, income can be subject to 
considerable fluctuations between years depending on number and type of 
applications.  This has been mostly offset by a projected under spend in 
Development Control of £90,000 based on planning application income received to 
date and comparison with the 2018-19 outturn.  Fee income is subject to 
considerable fluctuations between years depending on number and type of 
applications and requires close monitoring in-year. 
 
Regeneration 

 The projected under spend of £138,000 in Regeneration has arisen mainly from 
staffing vacancies and changes in staffing hours.  Vacancies are being closely 
managed through the year. 
 
 Waste Disposal and Collection 

 There is a combined over spend on the Waste Collection and Waste Disposal 
budget of £352,000.  There has been an ongoing procurement exercise with Neath 
Port Talbot County Borough Council (NPTCBC) to originally secure a new operator 
for the MREC facility.  Total MTFS Budget Reductions against the Waste budget of 
£200,000 in 2017-18 and £1.300 million in 2019-20 were predicated on achieving a 
price in the region of £135 per tonne from this exercise.  NPTCBC will now be 
running the MREC facility in-house, and whilst savings have been made in 2019-20 
they are not at the level to achieve the MTFS savings and discussions are 

Page 24



continuing with NPTCBC to continue to negotiate further improvements. A 
contribution of £500,000 has been agreed by the S151 Officer from the MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency Reserve as outlined in paragraph 4.2.4. 

 
Highways Services 

 There is a projected under spend of £250,000 within Highways Services (DSO).  
This is primarily due to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time 
to, the ongoing SALIX capital scheme to enable the replacement of street lighting 
with new energy efficient LED units.  

 
Engineering 

 There is a projected under spend of £100,000 within Engineering Services due 
primarily to an increase in the level of fee earning jobs (balance of EU/non EU 
funded projects and the differing chargeable rates allowed). 

 
Fleet Services 

 Fleet is showing a projected over spend of £173,000.  The service has undergone a 
review and the factors contributing to the over spend have been identified, including 
the charge out rate being too low to cover costs incurred.  In line with a Corporate 
Management Board (CMB) recommendation, the service area has engaged in a 
review of productivity in advance of calculating the new rates.  As a result of this 
review, at the start of 2019, technicians moved onto a differing working pattern to 
improve productivity. This was alongside a management restructure remodel which 
has seen a refocusing on workshop management and scheduling to address the 
over spend. Further costs saving measures have been undertaken such as 
improved procurement (e.g. reduced spend on tyres) and the fitting of speed limiters 
to vehicles to reduce fuel costs.   

 
Parking Services  

 Parking Services is showing a projected under spend of £184,000.  This is primarily 
due to better than forecast levels of income received in car parks.  This additional 
income is contributing to pressures within the overall transport budget. 

 
Corporate Director - Communities 

 There is a projected under spend of £121,000 mainly as a result of the promotion of 
the former Director to the post of Chief Executive, and whilst the new senior 
management structure is being populated.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 25



4.3.4 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2019-20 is £18.622 million.  The Directorate 
budget contains savings targets of £1.464 million for 2019-20.  Current projections 
anticipate an under spend against this budget of £978,000. The main variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget  
Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Housing Benefits – Admin  829 668              (161) -19.4% 

HR and Organisational Development 1,622 1,504              (118) -7.3% 

ICT 3,498 3,280              (218) -6.2% 

Communication & Engagement 1,598 1,372              (226) -14.1% 

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,015 4,789              (226) -4.5% 

 
Housing Benefits - Admin 

 There is an under spend of £161,000 in respect of the administration of housing 
benefit arising mainly from staffing vacancies, but also changes in staffing hours 
and additional annual leave purchases.  Vacancies will be closely managed through 
the year. 
 
HR & Organisational Development 

 The under spend of £118,000 mainly relates to staffing vacancies (implementation 
of a restructure) and changes in staffing hours.  Vacancies will be managed 
throughout the year and could be subject to MTFS savings in 2020-21. 

 
ICT 

 The under spend of £218,000 is due to a combination of staffing vacancies, along 
with reduced telephony costs. 

 
Communication & Engagement 

 The under spend of £226,000 mainly relates to staffing vacancies, but also changes 
in staffing hours and additional annual leave purchases.  Vacancies will be closely 
managed throughout the year and recruitment exercises are ongoing to fill vacant 
posts. 
 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

 The under spend of £226,000 has mainly arisen from staffing vacancies and under 
spends on the legal fees budget.  Vacancies continue to be managed throughout 
the year.  Part of the under spend under legal, democratic and regulatory services 
could be subject to MTFS savings in 2020-21. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



4.3.5 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The budget for 2019-20 is £39.794 
million.  The Directorate budget contains savings targets of £2.388 million for 2019-
20.  The projected outturn is £34.520 million, resulting in a projected under spend of 
£5.274 million. Without the additional grants of £2,622,202 as referenced in 
paragraph 4.1.3, the under spend would have been £2.652 million.  The main 
variances are detailed below: 

 

COUNCIL WIDE BUDGETS 
Net  

Budget  
Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Capital Financing      7,329          6,766             (563) -7.7% 

Apprenticeship Levy         700              620                 (80) -11.4% 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme    14,854         14,637               (217) -1.5% 

Insurance Premiums 1,588           1,339               (249) -15.7% 

Other Corporate Budgets      6,889           2,735            (4,154) -60.3% 

 
Capital Financing Costs 

 There is a projected under spend of £563,000 on interest paid/received due to a 
combination of lower borrowing than anticipated as the Council uses its own internal 
resources to finance schemes, and additional interest from current investments. 

 
Apprenticeship Levy 

 The projected under spend of £80,000 is based on monthly charges to date and 
historic outturns. 

 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 There is a projected under spend of £217,000 on the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme based on spend to date. This is a demand led budget and take-up is 
difficult to predict. The Welsh Government is working with local authorities and third 
sector organisations to make people more aware of the range of support available 
to help people pay their council tax bills, and this could impact on take-up in 2019-
20.  This budget therefore requires close monitoring during 2019-20.  

  
 Insurance Premiums 

 The projected under spend of £249,000 is mainly as a result of the reduction in the 
premium for property insurance in 2019-20 following a retendering exercise.  This 
budget heading will be considered as part of future years’ MTFS savings. 
 
Other Corporate Budgets 

 Other corporate budgets includes funding for pay, price and pensions increases, 
along with funding to deal with unexpected costs unforeseen when the budget was 
set.   As reported to Cabinet in the Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring report in July 2019 
since the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was approved in February, 
Welsh Government advised Local Authorities that additional grant funding was 
being made available during 2019-20 to meet the increased cost of teachers’ 
pensions and fire service pensions, both of which had been funded in full through 
the MTFS, along with additional grant funding of £343,701 towards teachers’ pay 

Page 27



increases.  In respect of the South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority, this meant that 
the levy was reduced by £272,405, compared to the original budgeted provision.  

 The total funding released from these allocations of £2.622 million is included in the 
overall pay and price budget.  Council has agreed that the majority of this funding 
can be used to undertake capital works as part of an ‘Investing in Communities 
Fund’ and an earmarked reserve of £2 million has been created out of this reported 
under spend – see section 4.4.4.  At this point in the year, there is a further 
projected under spend on the pay and price budget due to reduced requirements for 
funding for budget pressures and inflationary increases compared to the estimates 
provided for at the start of the financial year primarily due to maximising grant 
funding to support pay and price pressures – e.g. National Living Wage. 

 It should be noted that the projection on Other Corporate budgets could change 
significantly during the remainder of the financial year, especially due to the extent of 
inclement weather during the winter period and further demands on the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme.  At this point in the financial year, it is prudent to assume that all 
other budgets will be fully spent by year end. 

 
4.4 Review of Earmarked Reserves 
 
4.4.1  The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves to meet the needs of 

the organisation.  The MTFS includes the Council’s Reserves and Balances Protocol 
which sets out how the Council will determine and review the level of its Council Fund 
balance and earmarked reserves.  At Quarter 3 a further review of the particular 
pressures that were to be covered by earmarked reserves was undertaken and 
Directorates have drawn down funding.  The review also examined:- 

 

 Commitments against existing reserves and whether these were still valid; 

 Earmarked reserve requests from directorates as a result of emerging 
issues, and; 

 Emerging risks for the Council as a whole. 
 
4.4.2 Table 4 below details the creation of new earmarked reserves, increases to existing 

earmarked reserves and amounts that have been unwound from reserves since the 
beginning of the financial year.  There have been net additions of £5.147 million, the 
cumulative draw down by directorates is £2.905 million and £756,000 has been 
unwound. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 Table 4 – Earmarked Reserves – Quarter 3 
 
 

Opening 
Balance  

01-Apr-19 Reserve 

Net 
Additions/ 
Reclassify 

Draw-
down Unwound 

Closing 
Balance 
31-Dec-19 

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

  Corporate Reserves:         

 (9,243) Education & Family Support  -     44  49    (9,150) 

(841) Social Services & Wellbeing -     24  -          (818) 

(7,397) Communities (2,597) 508  313   (9,172) 

(5,415) Chief Executives (4,000) 501  47   (8,867) 

(13,833) Non-Directorate 2,240  770  248  (10,575) 

(36,729) Total Corporate Reserves (4,357) 1,847  657  (38,582) 

  Directorate Earmarked Reserves:         

         (634) Education & Family Support            -                  -               -             (634) 

(1,854) Social Services & Wellbeing            -            169            -          (1,685) 

(2,539) Communities (652)          244           100       (2,848) 

(2,770) Chief Executives (125)         122            -          (2,774) 

(7,797) Total Directorate Reserves (777)          535           100       (7,939) 

  
Equalisation & Grant Earmarked 
Reserves:         

(850) Education & Family Support (7)      521            -             (336) 

(1,634) Communities (13)              1            -          (1,646) 

         (483) Chief Executives              7               -               -             (476) 

(2,967) Total Equalisation Reserves  (13)           522            -          (2,457) 

        

         (614) School Balances            -                  -               -             (614) 

         

(48,107) Total Usable Reserves (5,147)        2,905           756     (49,592) 

 
 
4.4.3 The net appropriation to earmarked reserves as at Quarter 3 is £4.391 million (£5.147 

million additions offset by £756,000 that have been unwound).  This net addition has 
been funded from the projected under spend on non-Directorate budgets at the end 
of Quarter 3 as shown in Table 1. 

 
4.4.4 The main additions are the creation of a £2 million ‘Investing in Communities’ fund as 

referred to in section 4.3.5, a £2 million addition to the unallocated capital reserve to 
be utilised against projected capital pressures, a £500,000 increase to the Change 
Management Fund to support new applications to the fund and an increase of 
£335,000 to the earmarked reserve against the Innovation Centre to support the 
period of development for the Enterprise Hub project.  The main reserves that have 
been unwound are in relation to the Extra Care capital scheme (£308,000), Major 
Claims Reserve (£248,000) and Community Safety Reserve (£100,000) following a 
review of likely spend in these areas.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



5.0 Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
6.0 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 There are no implications in this report. 
 
7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

 
8.0 Financial implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9.0 Recommendations 

 
9.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 

 note the projected revenue outturn position for 2019-20. 
 

 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
January 2020 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 
   Interim Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 
 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

     MTFS Report to Council – 20 February 2019 

Page 30

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

19-20      

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2019-20 to achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1      

(2017-18)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy regarding 

statutory distances for free travel.
20 0

Delays to the assessments of safe 

routes have meant the policy can not 

be implemented. It will be 

implemented incrementally as routes 

are assessed.  Red RAG status 

given overspend on HTST in 2018-

19 and continuing overspend in 2019-

20 projections.

Cabinet approved a report on the 23rd July 2019 to 

commence a 12 week public consultation in 

September 2019 on a number of policy proposals to 

effect additional savings. This will be reported back to 

Cabinet in due course.

EFS2     

(2017-18)
School transport route efficiencies. 40 0

Delays to the assessments of safe 

routes have meant the policy can not 

be implemented. It will be 

implemented incrementally as routes 

are assessed.  Red RAG status 

given overspend on HTST in 2018-

19 and continuing overspend in 2019-

20 projections.

An external review of BCBC’s transport arrangements 

has been commissioned.  It is hoped this review will 

support changes to the current transport 

arrangements with a view to making the identified 

efficiency savings. 

EFS1      

(2018-19)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy regarding 

statutory distances for free travel.
67 0

Delays to the assessments of safe 

routes have meant the policy can not 

be implemented. It will be 

implemented incrementally as routes 

are assessed.  Red RAG status 

given overspend on HTST in 2018-

19 and continuing overspend in 2019-

20 projections.

Cabinet approved a report on the 23rd July 2019 to 

commence a 12 week public consultation in 

September 2019 on a number of policy proposals to 

effect additional savings. This will be reported back to 

Cabinet in due course.

EFS14 Traded Services Schools brochure 20 20
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

EFS27
Review arrangements for Special Schools Home to School 

Transport with a view to achieving efficiency savings
75 0

Retendering special school transport 

is unlikely to make the full saving 

due to additional in-year pressures 

on the Special School HTST budget.

Cabinet approved a report on the 23rd July 2019 to 

commence a 12 week public consultation in 

September 2019 on a number of policy proposals to 

effect additional savings. This will be reported back to 

Cabinet in due course.

                                      PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2019-20P
age 31



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

19-20      

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2019-20 to achieve

Total Education & Family Support Directorate 222 20

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW001 Management and admin review 203 203
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

SSW004 Review of LD supported living accommodation 78 78
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

SSW009 Remodel children's residential services 245 155
The savings proposal has been 

profiled over three years. 

Remodelling will continue into 2019-20.  £155k 

savings has been forecast for 2019-20

SSW010 Increase in-house fostering provision 392 237
The savings proposal has been 

profiled over two years. 

The fostering project will continue into 2019-20 with 

savings of £237k forecast

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 918 673

COMMUNITIES

COM1
Public conveniences - Reductions to the budget for Public 

Toilet provision
100 100

No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

COM18  2017-

18

Reductions to the budget for the Materials Recovery and 

Energy Centre (MREC)

Introduction in 17-18 of savings achieved through the current 

procurement being undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC 

for the provision of new operator arrangements for the MREC 

facility at Crumlyn Burrows.

200 200

Savings have been made in 2019-20 

- they are at the level to achieve the 

prior year MTFS savings but not the 

2019-20 savings target.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

COM19     

2017-18

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

Timeline not in the direct control of 

BCBC officers as the business case 

is going through multiple steps in an 

approval process with WG. However 

ultimately a positive response is 

expected, and this is being lead by 

the group manager to ensure it is 

followed through. 

Ongoing communication with WG to progress the 

business case.  However, the responsible highways 

network budget area is committed to stay within 

budget irrespective of the delivery of the scheme. 

COM27 Review of Subsidised Bus Services 188 188
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2020-21

P
age 32



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

19-20      

£000

Reason why not achievable Proposed Action in 2019-20 to achieve

COM31

To rationalise the core office estate - Secure tenant for 

Raven’s Court and move staff into the Civic Offices, in order 

to generate a rental income and save on running costs 

114 114
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

COM40 Implementation of Corporate Landlord 500 500
No reason why this saving should 

not be achieved in full in 2019-20.

No action required. Full saving should be achieved in 

2019-20

Total Communities Directorate 1,202 1,102

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 2,342 1,795

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 547

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1

Phased implementation of Learner Transport 

Policy regarding statutory distances for free 

travel

• Savings should occur naturally as a result of the policy application 

year on year, however dispersed learners and contractual pressure 

from operators as routes become more untenable may mean it 

becomes increasingly difficult to find the identified savings.

• Risk of price increases from Contractors.

67 0

Delays to the assessments of safe routes have 

meant the policy can not be implemented. It will 

be implemented incrementally as routes are 

assessed.

EFS19 Restructure of YOS Service

The amalgamation of the three local authority Youth Offending teams 

of Neath Port Talbot, Swansea and Bridgend in 2014 has historically 

achieved savings for the Local Authorities whilst simultaneously 

managing reductions in grant funding. There may be further 

opportunities to make savings through the ongoing restructure of the 

organisation, however this needs be seen in the light of Bridgend 

possibly leaving the WB collaboration and possible costs associated 

with this.

41 41 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS35
Reduction to contribution to the Central South 

Consortium (CSC) of 5%

This would need to be agreed with other partners within the 

Consortium.
30 30 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS36
Review of leadership within the Inclusion 

Service. 

This will require a restructure of the Inclusion Service and a full 

consultation.  Affords an opportunity for distributed leadership and 

succession planning.  This will increase the direct reports for Group 

Manager Inclusion and School Improvement but will mitigate any 

effect on front line service delivery.

70 70 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS37 Review of Cognition and Learning Team

This will require a restructure of the Inclusion Service and a full 

consultation. This is the service that provides outreach for literacy 

within Bridgend and the proposed new model will require some 

building of capacity in schools. There would be a risk with the current 

delivery method in that the building of capacity within schools could 

not be fully covered.

110 110 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS38
Review of Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 

team.

Savings would occur naturally as there are posts which are currently 

vacant within the team.  This area would be consulted upon as part 

of an Inclusion Service restructure.  Consideration would need to be 

given with regards to how building capacity with schools could be 

achieved in conjunction with other teams who support in a similar 

way and potentially with the same children and young people.

77 77 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

P
age 35



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EFS39 Review of Education Psychology Service

This would require a review of the Education Psychology team as 

part of the inclusion re-structure and will require the service to work 

differently to mitigate any shortfall in the service (e.g. undertake less 

training). 

65 65 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS40 Volunteer driver service

Service has not been operational since Jan 2017.  Full budget is 

£116k.  Therefore, £16k will be retained to support Looked After 

Children.

100 100 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

EFS45

Core funding for previous 'Uniform' Grant that 

has been replaced by PDG Access grant from 

Welsh Government

No impact - grant has replaced core funding. 36 36 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

Total Education and Family Support 596 529

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW17/A

SC18
Development of Extra Care Housing

Project is now in its final stages.  All consultation has been 

completed.  No adverse impact identified.
330 330 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

SSW19 Further review of HALO partnership contract.
Previous negotiations have proved successful.  No adverse impact 

identified.
80 80 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

SSW21

As part of the contract with Awen, BCBC will be 

renegotiating its management fee for the period 

2019-2022.  This will mean reviewing 

accessibility of services and potential closure of 

AWEN facilities such as community centres or 

libraries.

Negotiation will be required with AWEN to identify efficiencies in 

areas with the least impact on services. 
70 70 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

SSW22

Identify further savings from library and cultural 

facilities and  related services including 

reviewing  the numbers of facilities (libraries, 

community centres) and also reductions in 

services or opening hours.

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
60 0

Unable to achieve savings in 2019/20 due to 

consultation timetable.  Anticipated savings will 

be delivered in 2020/21.

SSW23 Review charging for telecare services
New charges will be introduced together with an increase in other 

current charges.
150 150 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

SSW24
Staffing reconfiguration across SSWB 

Directorate
Reconfiguration of staff will require staff consultation. 345 295

Restructures were not completed by April 2019, 

therefore only part year savings achievable.  

Full savings will be achieved by April 2020.

SSW25
Review of complex care accommodation across 

learning disabilities services 

Review of in-house and external provision to be undertaken identify 

efficiencies in areas with the least impact on service users.
150 150 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

P
age 36



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

SSW26
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative service provision 

required to meet assessed need.
50 50 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

1,235 1,125

COMMUNITIES

COM4
Review of School Crossing Patrol service in line 

with GB standards

This proposal builds on the 2015-16 budget reduction to cut the 

school crossing patrol budget and focus on those sites where there 

is greatest assessed risk based on the GB standard.  This may 

impact on high risk routes to achieve the full saving, and could 

conflict with learner travel savings. 

10 4

The level of service need is currently in excess 

of the available budget, hence saving will not be 

fully achieved in 2019-20

COM20
Highways Dept Management Structural Savings 

Target

Loss of experienced, competent and qualified managers to deliver 

statutory functions. Reduced resilience for response to highway 

issues.
100 55 Restructures were not completed by April 2019, 

therefore only part year savings achievable.  

Full savings will be achieved by April 2020.

COM26

Investigate the introduction of charging to users  

of the  Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town 

Centre to reduce/remove the current level of 

subsidy

A full Equality Impact Assessment and Future Generations 

assessment will need to carried out. The implications to some current 

users of the facility are that some members of the community with 

mobility issues may struggle to pay the necessary charges to hire a 

mobility scooter and therefore maybe unable to gain access to the 

town centre . However, this must be balanced against the declining 

popularity of the service with significantly reduced numbers of users . 

The changes in technology have meant that lightweight affordable 

scooters now have greatly increased in private ownership, compared 

to when the facility was introduced. The provision is not a statutory 

duty and one not provided in other town centres of the borough or in 

many of the town centres of neighbouring authorities. On this basis it 

would seem reasonable to investigate whether introducing charging 

for use is a viable way of reducing the overall cost of the service. If 

however this does not prove feasible,  in order to make the full 

saving required over the next two financial years closure of the 

facility would be necessary. 

5 0

Cabinet report due to be presented shortly on 

proposals to achieve the 2019-20 and 2020-21 

MTFS savings, therefore full saving will not be 

made this financial year.

COM42

Review of parks and playing fields service split 

over two financial years:-  15% reduction to 

seasonal operatives budget (£75K).  

Corresponding reduction to large and small 

plant (£29k).  Removal of bowls club grant 

(£34K). 

The cut identified for 2019-20 will require the removal of 

approximately 6 seasonal operatives along with respective cuts to 

plant, equipment and materials.  This will have a noticeable reduction 

in levels of service.   

69 35

Will not be achieved in full due to timing of 

consultation on Parks & Playing Fields (finished 

10th July 2019)

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 37



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COM43

End of management of Kenfig National Nature 

Reserve
The agreement between BCBC and Kenfig Corporation Trust (KCT) 

ends in December 2019.  It is currently proposed that BCBC does 

not enter into any new agreement.  KCT are underway with a 

process, supported by their agent HRT, to identify a new tenant.  

This process is being conducted in partnership with NRW.  There is 

a risk that the level of management may be affected, however there 

is also the opportunity that the new tenant may be able to draw on 

resources that BCBC cannot. 

10 10 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

COM44

Bridgend Bus Station - alternative measures to 

explore full cost recovery and external support 

will be pursued but, failing this, the likely 

required step to deliver this saving is closure.

Impact on city region, connectivity hub, and potential impact on air 

quality due to relocation of buses.  May have a detrimental impact on 

regional transport with no main bus station and impact on reputation 

of the Council. 

45 15

Due to resources in delivering other transport 

projects this saving proposal has been delayed.  

A range of measures to meet the proposed 

saving are currently being considered, however 

the current assessment of the options identifies 

a high risk that they may not meet the level of 

saving required.

COM46 Removal of budget for Subsidised Bus Routes

Letter received from Welsh Government confirming that from April 

2019, each local authority’s allocation from Bus Services Support 

Grant (BSSG) will have to be at least match-funded by a commitment 

to expenditure from an authority’s own budget in support of bus and 

community transport networks in its area.  Therefore removal would 

have a larger impact than the £200K budget included.  Also some 

areas may not have access to an alternative bus service or 

alternative form of transport. Consultation required.

148 86

Due to requirements for consultation, reporting 

and challenge, the 12 week notice period was 

not issued until the beginning of June which will 

mean a cessation of service at the end of 

August 19 (7 month saving)

COM47
Public Transport - efficiencies achieved under 

the Public Transportation budget

Reduced support available for wider Transportation budgets - e.g. 

works at Bridgend Bus Station.
24 24 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

COM49

Street Lighting - Reduction to energy costs 

budget which has been achieved due to historic 

replacement of LED lighting

Ability to deliver this level of saving is dependent on how successful 

the new SALEX replacement programme is compared with the 

original business case as funding will be required from this budget 

heading to repay the SALEX borrowing for a number of years.

30 30 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

COM50 Increase pre-application planning fees by 10% 

This is the first increase since the introduction of the new service in 

2016. Will introduce new categories of enquiry currently not covered 

by the scheme. Also aim to introduce a new pre-sale information 

pack for householders providing details of planning consents, 

constraints etc. There is a risk that the increase will put some 

potential users of the scheme off and the increase might have to be 

phased.  Any change to the current system will also require DC 

Committee and Cabinet approval.

10 10 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

P
age 38



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COM52

Reductions to the budget for the Materials 

Recovery and Energy Centre (MREC) to be 

achieved through the current procurement being 

undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC for the 

provision of new operator arrangements for the 

MREC facility at Crumlyn Burrows

Failure to secure a new operating contractor through a compliant 

tender and procurement exercise for the MREC facility would result 

in this saving being undeliverable. Failure to reach agreement with 

NPT on the Councils financial contribution to the costs of supporting 

the MREC. Intervention by the Welsh Government and or changes in 

legislation in the waste management sector.

1,300 650

There has been an ongoing procurement 

exercise with Neath Port Talbot County Borough 

Council (NPTCBC) to originally secure a new 

operator for the facility.  Total MTFS Budget 

Reductions against the Waste budget of 

£200,000 in 2017-18 and £1,300,000 in 2019-20 

were predicated on achieving a price in the 

region of £135 per tonne from this exercise.  

NPTCBC will now be running the MREC facility 

in-house, and whilst savings have been made in 

2019-20 they are not at the level to achieve the 

MTFS savings and discussions are continuing 

with NPTCBC to continue to negotiate further 

improvements. 

COM53 Communities Management Restructure

Loss of experienced, competent and qualified managers to deliver 

statutory functions. 135 135 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

COM55
Increase charge for Green Waste Service from 

£28.30 per household to £38.30
25 5

Most service users pay prior to the 1st April, 

hence full benefit of increase in charge will not 

be seen until 20-21

COM56
Increase charge for collection of 3 bulky waste 

items from £15.50 to £20.
10 10 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

COM59

 Reduction to the opening hours of the 

Community Recycling Centres by 1 hour, per 

day. 

17 10
Change to the opening hours commenced June 

2019, hence full year saving not achievable.

Total Communities Directorate 1,938 1,079

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

CEX1 Efficiencies from Shared Regulatory Service

May require restructuring within service and impact on response 

times, but will be managed across the 3 participating Councils and 

will aim to minimise impact.

111 111 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX2 Remove members' Community Action Fund
This will require approval from members following review of current 

scheme.
285 285 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX3
Review of Business Support functions across 

the directorate

Reconfiguration of the service required, may result in slower 

response times and restructure.
250 200

Restructures were not completed by April 2019, 

therefore only part year savings achievable.  

Full savings will be achieved by April 2020.

The new waste contract related items would require both Contract 

Variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed 

and public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced 

levels of service.

P
age 39



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CEX4
Review of homelessness prevention budgets 

and allocation of related grants

There will be a reliance on grant funding and limited core funding 

available
235 235 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX5

Review of homelessness prevention service 

provision and the possibility of partnership 

working with an external organisation.

Full evaluation and  reconfiguration of the service provision will be 

required
100 100 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX6

Review of ICT capital related revenue budgets.  

This will require council to agree all ICT capital 

spend to be met from the capital programme 

allocation

Limits the potential for ICT to fund capital related expenditure on a 

ad hoc basis
200 200 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX7
Review of non staff related ICT budgets 

including software
Minimal impact anticipated. 80 80 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX8 Directorate leadership restructuring
Will reduce senior management capacity, and require some 

backfilling and review of functions. 
100 100 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX9

Review structures across customer contact, 

communications & marketing, housing and 

performance

Vacant posts would be frozen / deleted. 73 73 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CEX10
Review CCTV function with aim to create 

efficiencies
Potentially could impact on community safety 30 0

The specific proposal is unlikely to be achieved 

in 2019-20.  However,  alternative savings 

should be possible within the service with 

minimal impact.

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 1,464 1,384

P
age 40



MONITORING OF 2019-20 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2019-20 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2019-20    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD6
Reduction in funding available for meeting the 

costs of Capital Financing

Repayments are still considered to be prudent, but will result in 

longer payback periods in line with asset lives.
1,975 1,975 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CWD7
Removal of Invest to Save funding agreed as 

part of MTFS for 2018-22
Limited impact as not committed to specific schemes or services 200 200 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

CWD8

Removal of budget created from raising council 

tax from original 4.2% to 4.5% in 2018-19 

budget. 

Part of funding used on one-off basis in 2018-19 but rest 

uncommitted. Previous year's council tax increase is built into base 

rate.

213 213 Full saving should be achieved in 2019-20

Total Corporate / Council Wide 2,388 2,388

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 7,621 6,505

7,621 7,621

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 0 1,116

3,024 5,495

2,703 664

1,894 1,462

7,621 7,621

TOTAL BUDGET REDUCTION REQUIREMENT

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 31ST DECEMBER 2019

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Projected 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 114,492        (21,302)     93,190     93,190         (0)                     0.0%

Learning 11,004          (4,005)       6,999       7,267          268                  3.8%

Strategic Partnerships & Comm 25,286          (10,910)     14,376     14,805         429                  3.0%

Health and Safety 386               (2)             384          247             (137)                 -35.6%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 151,168        (36,219)     114,949   115,509       560                  0.5%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING DIRECTORATE

Adult Social Care 64,131          (16,591)     47,540     47,336         (204)                 -0.4%

Sports, Play and Active Wellbeing 5,959            (793)          5,166       5,127          (39)                   -0.8%

Childrens Social Care 19,790          (914)          18,876     19,804         928                  4.9%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 89,880          (18,298)     71,582     72,267         685                  1.0%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Regeneration & Development 5,442            (2,709)       2,733       2,663          (70)                   -2.6%

Community Services 32,924          (13,015)     19,909     19,890         (19)                   -0.1%

Director - Communities 146                -          146          25               (121)                 -82.9%

Corporate Landlord 23,594          (20,520)     3,074       3,102          28                    0.9%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 62,106          (36,244)     25,862     25,680         (182)                 -0.7%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive  511                -          511          525             14                    2.7%

Finance 54,414          (50,716)     3,698       3,520          (178)                 -4.8%

Human Resources 1,928            (306)          1,622       1,504          (118)                 -7.3%

Partnerships 2,646            (622)          2,024       1,736          (288)                 -14.2%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 6,276            (1,260)       5,016       4,789          (227)                 -4.5%

Elections 150               (11)           139          143             4                      2.9%

ICT 4,717            (1,219)       3,498       3,280          (218)                 -6.2%

Housing & Homelessness 2,676            (1,544)       1,132       1,147          15                    1.3%

Business Support 1,094            (112)          982          1,000          18                    1.8%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 74,412          (55,790)     18,622     17,644         (978)                 -5.3%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 377,566        (146,551)   231,015   231,100       85                    0.0%

Council Wide Budgets 40,741          (947)          39,794     34,520         (5,274)              -13.3%

Appropriations to Earmarked Reserves 4,391          4,391               0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          418,307    (147,498)    270,809        270,011                  (798) -0.3%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2019-20

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

21 JANUARY 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE & SECTION 151 OFFICER 
 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE - QUARTER 3 2019-20 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2018 
 

 provide an update of the Capital Programme for 2019-20 at 31 
December 2019 (Appendix A) 

 
 seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for approval 

for a revised capital programme for 2019-20 to 2028-29 (Appendix B) 
 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2019-20 
(Appendix C) 

 
 

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 
Priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priorities:-   

 
1. Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a good 

place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure 
that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions of all people in the county.  

 
2. Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce or 

prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council and 
its services. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 

physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities.  

 
2.2 Capital investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the 

Council’s Priorities as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



3. Background  
 
3.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 

2003 as amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what 
is to be treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in 
various ways to prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
3.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and 

Capital activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 
 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  
 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
 Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 

 
3.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 

Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the 
Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has 
fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators 
that must be set and monitored each year. 

3.4 On 20 February 2019, Council approved a capital programme covering the 
period 2019-20 to 2028-29 as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). The capital programme was last updated and approved by Council on 
23 October 2019. This report provides an update on the following areas: 

 Capital Programme 2019-20 Monitoring 
 Capital Programme 2019-20 Onwards 
 Prudential and Other Indicators Monitoring  
 Capital Strategy Monitoring 

 
4. Current Situation / Proposal 

Capital Programme 2019-20 Monitoring 
 

4.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 
capital programme for 2019-20 since the budget was last approved by Council 
and incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised 
programme for 2019-20 currently totals £33.700 million, of which £15.057 
million is met from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, 
including capital receipts and revenue contributions from earmarked reserves, 
with the remaining £18.643 million coming from external resources, including 
General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme for each 
Directorate from the October 2019 approved Council position to quarter 3: 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 46



Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2019-20 
 

Directorate 
Approved 
Council  

New 
Approvals & 
Adjustments 

Virements 
Slippage 
to future 

years 

Revised 
Budget 
2019-20 

23-Oct-19 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education & Family 
Support 

7,175 234 180 (1,203) 6,386 

Social Services and 
Well-being 

1,641 65 0 0 1,706 

Communities 25,097 426 20 (3,955) 21,588 

Chief Executive's 4,220 0 (200) 0 4,020 

Total 38,133 725 0 (5,158) 33,700 
 

 
4.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 

programme for 2019-20. The capital resources are managed to ensure that 
maximum financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the 
realignment of funding to maximise government grants.  
 
Table 2 – Capital Programme 2019-20 Resources 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
BCBC External Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Receipts 3,823 0 3,823 
Grants 0 15,547 15,547 

Earmarked Reserves 5,552 0 5,552 
Unsupported Borrowing 349 0 349 

Supported Borrowing 3,938 0 3,938 
Other Loans 600 2,246 2,846 

Revenue Contributions 795 0 795 

Other Contributions 0 850 850 

TOTAL 15,057 18,643 33,700 
 
 
4.3 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital 

programme,  showing the budget available in 2019-20 compared to the 
projected spend.  

 

Page 47



4.4 A number of schemes have already been identified as requiring slippage of 
budget to future years (2020-21 and beyond). At quarter 3 the total requested 
slippage is £5.158 million, which includes the following schemes: 

 
Maesteg Town Hall (£1.6 million) 

          The Maesteg Town Hall Re-development project has been progressing 
confidently, albeit with some programme suspension due to further design work 
and a delay in receiving tender sums. Within the next few weeks, and subject 
to construction cost agreement, the Authority will be looking to enter into 
contract for the construction phase. Due to the above, £1.6 million of the 
scheme has been slipped into 2020-21. 

 
In light of additional structural surveys being undertaken as part of the RIBA 
stage 4 technical design and tendered market returns on various work 
packages, the total project cost, prior to a value engineering exercise to reduce 
the total cost without detriment to the overall re-development, is circa £8.2 
million. The main uplift in costs is as a result of additional survey work being 
undertaken which has identified unavoidable asbestos removal and roof 
replacement works. 
 
In July 2019, a capital update report to Council outlined the anticipated total                                    
project cost to be circa £6.3 million. This has now been revised to £8.2 
million.  The increase to the capital programme of £1.9 million is the worst case 
scenario and is being funded from a virement of the Economic Stimulus grant 
of £0.133 million, an allocation of £0.779 million from the Investing in 
Communities capital allocation, £0.375 million of recycled capital receipts, 
£0.46 million Special Regeneration Fund/Earmarked Reserve funding and 
increases to external funding of £0.16 million. 
 
Officers are working closely with Awen who have applied for a further grant 
(£0.3 million) and applications for further funding from CADW have been 
submitted (£0.1 million).  As indicated, a value engineering exercise is also 
being undertaken, and receipt of additional grant funding or cost savings will be 
returned to the Investing in Communities capital allocation. 

 
Community Hub – Brynteg Comprehensive School (£0.768 million) 

          The scheme was programmed to be completed by the end of March 2020. 
However, there was a delay in obtaining planning approval and the most 
economically advantageous tender was significantly over the available 
construction budget. These issues had a detrimental effect in achieving Welsh 
Government’s required spend by year-end. A request for additional funding of 
£0.284 million, and to slip £0.768 million into 2020-2021, received Welsh 
Government approval. 

 
 Additional Learning Needs (ALN) provision at Cefn Cribwr Primary School 

(£0.387 million) 
The project will create two observation classrooms with associated toilets, cloak 
areas and storage plus a space for interventions/withdrawal, within the site of 
Cefn Cribwr Primary School and remove one ‘D’ rated mobile classroom, 
demolish the former changing room (currently used as store) and provide a 

Page 48



secure external soft play area. The total scheme budget is £0.513 million. 
Tenders in the region of £0.5 million are undergoing evaluation and slippage of 
£0.387 million is expected.  

           Ravens Court (£0.442 million) 
           In February 2019, Council agreed the establishment of an annual Corporate 

Capital Fund of £0.2 million, from which allocations would be agreed by 
Corporate Management Board (CMB). CMB has agreed to vire the 2019-20 
allocation into the Raven’s Court Minor Works Scheme along with £0.017 
million of capital minor works funding.  This will supplement the £0.245 million 
already allocated to provide a replacement heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning (HVAC) system at Ravens Court offices, which will mitigate current 
failures, address health and safety issues and provide energy savings going 
forward giving a total budget of £0.462 million. The system is at the end of its 
operational life and options appraisal and feasibility work have been undertaken 
to determine the most suitable replacement system. It is anticipated that the 
work will be carried out in the latter half of this calendar year and will require 
the temporary decant of staff on a wing-by-wing basis to enable these works. 

           
Estimated fees this year are circa £0.02 million with the work commencing in 
the summer of 2020. Slippage of £0.442 million will therefore be required into 
2020-21. 

  
Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT (£0.66 million) 
On 22 October 2019 Cabinet approved the introduction of full cost recovery on 
the hire charges for pavilions and playing fields from September 2020, and this 
was reconfirmed at the Special Meeting of Cabinet on 13 November 2019 
following a Call-in of the original decision.  This is likely to mean that, although 
slippage of £0.66 million is required this year, usage of the fund will increase 
significantly in the future as work is undertaken to improve assets ready for 
transfer. 

          Non Operational Assets (£0.48 million)  
          The Council previously approved £1 million within the capital programme for the 

purchase of investment assets and spent £0.52 million on acquiring an office 
building, which generates a rental income of £0.056 million per year. There is a 
balance of £0.48 million available within the capital programme but as yet no 
suitable options have been identified within the Bridgend area, which would 
produce a reasonable return and at acceptable levels of risk. The Council may 
in the future wish to consider expanding its property investment portfolio, in 
which case it would need to review the criteria and investment strategy but this 
would be on a risk based approach.  

 
Capital Programme 2019-20 Onwards 
 

4.5 Since the last capital report in October 2019, there have been a number of new 
externally funded schemes and additional income approved, which have been 
incorporated into the capital programme, including:           

 
      Community Hub – Brynteg Comprehensive (£0.284 million) 

Page 49



          The Council has been successful in receiving an additional £0.284 million in 
respect of this scheme which will enable close integrated working between 
professionals from council departments and non-local authority professionals 
including health visitors and police liaison officers. 

 
           Capital support for the implementation and expansion of separate household 

collections of absorbent hygiene product (AHP) waste (£0.238 million)  
          The Council has been successful in receiving an award of £0.238 million from 

Welsh Government in respect of the above scheme. The scheme involves the 
purchase of two vehicles and ancillary equipment together with a rental charge 
for use of the Council’s depot facilities by Kier Services Limited (Kier), the 
company carrying out the waste collection services on behalf of the Council. 
The Council will receive, as consideration for this, a revenue reduction in the 
waste collection service charge from Kier over the next 4 years, at the end of 
which the vehicles will revert to ownership by the Council. 

 
           Urban Centre Property Enhancement Fund (£0.1 million) and Urban Centre 

Living Grant (£0.05 million) 
          The Council has been successful in entering into a Service Level Agreement 

with Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council in respect of the above 
Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) schemes. Delegated authority to 
award grants to property owners/long term tenants within Bridgend Town 
Centre was approved by Cabinet on 18 June 2019. 

            
4.6     Other schemes which have material changes since the October report are as 

follows: 
 
          Coastal Risk Management Scheme - Porthcawl (£6.032 million) 
          The scheme has been identified as a priority as part of the Flood and Coastal 

works required to protect properties in the Porthcawl area. The scheme has 
been subject to a project appraisal and an outline business case submitted and 
approved by Welsh Government as part of their Coastal Risk Management 
Programme. Following approval of the submitted outline business case, funding 
to carry out the detailed design was secured. The detailed design has now been 
submitted for planning and the updated business case is to be submitted to 
Welsh Government. The Business Case seeks to secure funding to the value 
of £6.032 million for refurbishment of the Western Breakwater, improvement of 
the Eastern Promenade, repairs to Rhych point and introduction of a dune 
management system to enhance and retain the relic dunes at Sandy Bay. 
These works will protect approximately 531 Residential and 175 Business 
Properties. 

  
           If the scheme is approved, this will be funding 75% from Welsh Government 

grant (£4.523 million) and 25% from BCBC (£1.509 million). An earmarked 
reserve has been set up in respect of the Council contribution. 

 
          21st Century Schools Band B Programme 
          The overall funding envelope for the programme has been increased to reflect 

the capital contributions required for the 2 proposed Mutual Investment Model 
(MIM) funded schemes within the overall programme. Whilst these will primarily 

Page 50



be funded from revenue budgets there is a requirement to fund furniture, 
equipment and ICT from the capital budget. This will be funded at the same 
intervention rate as capital grant funded schemes, namely 65% Welsh 
Government and 35% BCBC. The overall funding of the programme within the 
capital budget has been revised and updated to reflect current intervention 
rates. All schemes will be subject to full business cases and any changes to the 
overall funding envelope will be reported back to Cabinet and Council as 
necessary.  

 
           Welsh Medium Childcare Provision. 
           The design team working on the project have indicated that completion of the 

Bettws element of the scheme, which was originally scheduled to be in 
September 2021, can now be achieved in January 2021. The Council has been 
successful in obtaining approval from Welsh Government for a change in the 
funding profile and as a result £0.481 million of the spend has been brought 
forward from 2021-22 to 2020-21. 

 
           School Maintenance Grant 
           It was originally intended to fund the replacement of the mobile classroom at 

Cefn Cribwr Primary School using part of this grant. However delays in 
obtaining an acceptable price from the contractors tendering for the work have 
resulted in that element of the grant, which needed to be utilised in 2019-20, 
being used to fund other minor works schemes. This has released £0.513 
million to fund the Cefn Cribwr scheme. 

 
          Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools 
          CMB has agreed to vire £0.180 million from the Capital Asset Management 

Fund to complete the ALN provision at Pencoed Comprehensive School. 
 
           Llynfi Valley Loan 

The Council received a loan from the Welsh Government Central Capital 
Retained Fund for regeneration works within the Llynfi Valley in March 2014. 
Capital works have not yet commenced. Officers are currently in discussion with 
Welsh Government on this loan, which is due to be repaid by the end of the 
financial year, about some possible options including the extension of the loan 
into 2020-21, which is yet to be confirmed by Welsh Government.  

 
4.7 There are a number of other schemes within the Capital Programme that are 

awaiting confirmation of external funding over the winter period. Once approval 
is known, it may also result in some schemes needing re-profiling. The Capital 
Programme has not been updated at this time for these schemes and further 
reports will be brought to Cabinet and Council in due course for approval.  

 
A Revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix B. 
 
Prudential and Other Indicators 2019-20 Monitoring  

 
4.8 In February 2019, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2019-20, which 

included the Prudential Indicators 2019-20 to 2021-22 together with some local 
indicators.  

Page 51



 
4.9 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, 

capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end, a number of prudential 
indicators were included, and approved by Council. In line with the requirements 
of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to establish 
procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking prudential 
indicators and the requirement specified. 
 

4.10 Appendix C details the actual indicators for 2018-19, the estimated indicators 
for 2019-20 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators 
for 2019-20 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the 
Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

 
 Capital Strategy Monitoring 
 
4.11 The Capital Strategy also requires the monitoring of non-treasury management 

investments and other long term liabilities. The Council does have an existing 
investment portfolio which is 100% based within the County Borough and 
primarily the office and industrial sectors. The income streams are generally 
spread between the single and multi-let office investments on Bridgend Science 
Park, the multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent investments. 
The total value of Investment Properties was £4.635 million at 31 March 2019. 

 
4.12 The Council has a number of Other Long Term Liabilities which are included 

within the Capital Strategy. Details of these were provided in the Quarter 2 
Report to Cabinet. No new loans have been taken out in Quarter 3. 

 
5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 3.5.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

“The Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to Cabinet an update on the 
Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators.” 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 Projects within the capital programme will be subject to the preparation of 

Equality Impact Assessments before proceeding 
 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. Specifically the development of a 10 year capital programme, which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing, 
supports the principle of sustainability over the long term. 

 
 

Page 52



8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 The financial implications are outlined in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 note the Council’s capital programme for 2019-20 for the period to 31 
December 2019 (Appendix A); 

 agrees that the revised Capital Programme (Appendix B) be submitted 
to Council for approval; 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2019-20 
(Appendix C). 

 
 
 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
10 January 2020 
 
Contact Officer: Nigel Smith 
   Interim Group Manager – Chief Accountant  
Telephone:  01656 643359 
E-mail:  Nigel.Smith@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council 
   Chief Executive’s - Finance 
   Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:  
Capital Strategy 2019-20– Report to Council 20 February 2019 
Capital Strategy Report Q1 2019-20 – Report to Council 24 July 2019 
Capital Strategy Report Q2 2019-20 – Report to Council 23 October 2019 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-20 onwards – Report to Council 20 February 
2019 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Borough Council

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT
Run for Period  6 - 2019/2020 APPENDIX A

EXCLUDES CAPITAL CONTROL ACCOUNT K000

Main Scheme Whole 
Scheme 
Budget

Budget 19-
20 

(Council 
October 

2019)

New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 
Budget 
2019-20

Total Exp 
to date

Projected 
Spend

Over / 
(Under) 
spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
Learning
21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS BAND B   49,454           320            -                           -                      -           320            -           320                    -           
PENYFAI PRIMARY               7,191             356            -                          (48)                       -           308           308           308                    -           
BRYNMENYN PRIMARY             8,310             44              -                           -                      -           44             0               44                      -           
GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SEC SCH 39,757           140            -                           -                      -           140           6               140                    -           
COITY PRIMARY SCHOOL          8,514             46              -                          (46)                       -            -            -            -                    -           
GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRY PROVIS. 10,642           160            -                           -                      -           160           (209)          160                    -           
PENCOED PRIMARY               10,834           100            -                           -                      -           100           (134)          100                    -           
GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS  300                30              -                           -                      -           30             0               30                      -           
PENCOED PRY SCH HIGHWAYS WORKS 400                65              -                           -                      -           65             1               65                      -           
BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 807                70              -                           -                      -           70             52             70                      -           
OGMORE COMPREHENSIVE          4,120             37              -                           -                      -           37             30             37                      -           
CWMFELIN PRIMARY              31                  204            -                          (204)                     -            -            -            -                    -           
REDUCTION OF INFANT CLASS SIZES (521)               200            -                           -                      -           200           127           200                    -           
CROESTY PRIMARY SCHOOL        521                521            -                           -                      -           521           189           521                    -           
SCHOOLS CAPITAL MINOR WORKS 931                828            -                          (309)                     -           519           259           519                    -           
HERONSBRIDGE SCHOOL           250                50             (50)                            -                      -            -           1                -                    -           
FLYING START- BETWS 17                  17              -                           -                      -           17             5               17                      -           
SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY        588                265            -                           -                      -           265           4               265                    -           
MAESTEG COMP HIGHWAYS         412                 -            -                           -                      -            -            -            -           
 CEFN CRIBWR PRIMARY SCHOOL ALN  -            -                          513                     (387)          126           54             126                    -           
SCHOOL MODERNISATOIN RETENTION 591                 -            -                          48                       (48)             -            -            -           
EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES        190                232            -                           -                      -           232           30             232                    -           
COMPLEX&MEDICAL NEEDS SCHOOLS 1,045             470            -                          180                      -           650           342           650                    -           
SCHOOL'S CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 1,863             1,685         -                          46                        -           1,731        716           1,731                 -           
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BETTWS 650                55              -                           -                      -           55             41             55                      -           
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BRIDGEND 650                 -            -                           -                      -            -           3                -           
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - OGMORE 650                55              -                           -                      -           55             1               55                      -           
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - HIGHWAYS 100                100           100            -           100                   

P
age 55



Main Scheme Whole 
Scheme 
Budget

Budget 19-
20 

(Council 
October 

2019)

New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 
Budget 
2019-20

Total Exp 
to date

Projected 
Spend

Over / 
(Under) 
spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
WLGA - ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ICT -SCHOOLS 81                  81              -                           -                      -           81              -           81                      -           
EAST HUB- BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE 1,328             1,044        284                           -                     (768)          560           74             560                    -           

TOTAL Learning 149,706         7,175        234                          180                     (1,203)       6,386        1,901        6,386                 -           

TOTAL Education & Family Support 149,706         7,175        234                          180                     1,203-        6,386        1,901        6,386                -                

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRYNGARW PARK-ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS 35                  35              -                           -                      -           35              -           35                      -           
BRYN Y CAE - HFE'S 40                  40              -                           -                      -           40              -           40                      -           
WELLBEING MINOR WORKS 105                105            -                           -                      -           105           23             105                    -           
TREM YMOR 8                -                   
TY PENYBONT 50                  50              -                           -                      -           50              -           50                      -           
BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS        13                  13              -                           -                      -           13             3               13                      -           
GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME        98                  51              -                           -                      -           51              -           51                      -           
HARWOOD HOUSE                 286                 -            -                           -                      -            -            -            -                    -           
ELECTRONIC SCHEDULING SYSTEM   -                (37)             -                    -           
ARCH WELLBEING CENTRE         847                547            -                           -                      -           547           551           547                    -           
CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB     700                600            -                           -                      -           600           5               600                    -           
ICF CAPITAL FUNDING 65                            65              -           65                     
EXTRA CARE FACILITIES         2,692             200            -                           -                      -           200           44             200                    -           

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 4,866             1,641        65                             -                      -           1,706        597           1,706                 -           

Communities
Street Scene
PARKS/PAVILIONS/COMMUNITY CENTRES CAT 1,000             1,000         -                     (660)          340           163           340                    -           
ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                  11             11              -           11                     
CITY DEAL                     45,581           2,595         -                      -           2,595         -           2,595                 -           
PORTHCAWL TOWN SEA DEFENCE    3,235             83              -                           -                      -           83             (24)            83                      -           
EASTERN PROMENADE PORTHCAWL   465                207            -                           -                      -           207           169           207                    -           
CORNELLY CEMETERY EXT         314                 -            -                           -                      -            -            -            -                    -           
COYCHURCH CREM 776                173            -                           -                      -           173           98             173                    -           
PORTHCAWL CEMETERY EXT        216                 -            -                           -                      -            -            -            -                    -           
REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 215                152            -                           -                      -           152           25             152                    -           
CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT 38                   -           38                            38             38             38                     
STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SALIX  2,500             600            -                           -                      -           600           384           600                    -           
SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL         243                243            -                           -                      -           243           114           243                    -           
ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES           115                115            -                           -                      -           115           25             115                    -           

P
age 56



Main Scheme Whole 
Scheme 
Budget

Budget 19-
20 

(Council 
October 

2019)

New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 
Budget 
2019-20

Total Exp 
to date

Projected 
Spend

Over / 
(Under) 
spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
ACTIVE TRAVEL- PENCOED TECHNOLOGY PARK 898                898            -                           -                      -           898           25             898                    -           
HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS     200                187            -                           -                      -           187           109           187                    -           
CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS     250                189            -                           -                      -           189           117           189                    -           
ACTIVE TRAVEL - BRIDGEND TO BRACKLA 717                717            -                           -                      -           717           6               717                    -           
ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS - HEOL MOSTYN 600                 -            -                           -                      -            -           (2)               -                    -           
RIGHTS OF WAY MINOR WORKS 40                  40              -                           -                      -           40             1               40                      -           
HIGHWAYS REFURBISHMENT GRANT 1,600             1,600         -                           -                      -           1,600        346           1,600                 -           
CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 5,724             550            -                          (133)                     -           417           1,223        417                    -           
NATIONAL CYCLE NETWORK PHASE 2  -                 -            -                           -                      -            -           (17)             -                    -           
REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 418                230            -                           -                      -           230           152           230                    -           
BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061    3,184             1,220         -                           -                      -           1,220        640           1,220                 -           
COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS       401                250            -                           -                      -           250           27             250                    -           
RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES     393                190            -                           -                      -           190           197           190                    -           
RETAINING WALL REPLCMNT BETTWS 175                11              -                           -                      -           11             0               11                      -           
PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO 28              -                   
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - BUS CORRIDORS 150                150            -                           -                      -           150            -           150                    -           
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 240                240            -                           -                      -           240           21             240                    -           
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - BRIDGEND TO COYCHURCH 750                750            -                           -                      -           750           55             750                    -           
SAFE ROUTES - COITY HIGHER 218                218            -                           -                      -           218           27             218                    -           
RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC 130                128            -                           -                     (128)           -           0                -                    -           
FLEET VEHICLES                2,140             232            -                           -                      -           232           232           232                    -           
AHP WASTE 238                 -           238                          238            -           238                   
RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE     1,328             30              -                           -                      -           30              -           30                      -           
HIGHWAYS S106 MINOR SCHEMES 65                  65              -                           -                      -           65             3               65                      -           

TOTAL Streetscene 74,568           13,074      276                          (133)                    (788)          12,429      4,181        12,429               -           

Regeneration & Development
BRDGND BUS SUP NETWORK        54                  90              -                           -                      -           90             27             90                      -           
PCAWL RESORT INVESTMENT FOCUS 3,006             1,144         -                           -                      -           1,144        1,102        1,144                 -           
EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET     413                120            -                          (50)                       -           70              -           70                      -           
PURCHASE OF SALT LAKE CAR PARK  -                64              -                           -                      -           64             8               64                      -           
VRP - BRYNGARW PARK 500                250            -                           -                      -           250            -           250                   
VRP - PARC SLIP 400                329            -                           -                      -           329            -           329                   
UCPEF 100                          100           62             100                    -           
UCLG 50                            50              -           50                      -           
LLYNFI DEVELOPMENT SITE       2,400             2,246         -                           -                      -           2,246         -           2,246                 -           
P/CWL RESTBAY WATERSIDE CYCLE  -                 -            -                           -                      -            -            -            -                    -           

P
age 57



Main Scheme Whole 
Scheme 
Budget

Budget 19-
20 

(Council 
October 

2019)

New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 
Budget 
2019-20

Total Exp 
to date

Projected 
Spend

Over / 
(Under) 
spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME          350                100            -                           -                     (100)           -            -            -                    -           
MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 5,798             1,497        630                     (1,577)       550           155           550                    -           
TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 328                328            -                           -                     (189)          139           114           139                    -           
BRIDGEND TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE    -                 -            -                           -            -           0                -                    -           
PORTHCAWL THI                 1,172             425            -                          50                        -           475           113           475                    -           

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 14,421           6,593        150                          630                     (1,866)       5,507        1,581        5,507                 -           

Corporate Landlord
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 820                200            -                          (180)                     -           20              -           20                      -           
CORP LANDLORD ENERGY EFFIC SAV 1,300             50              -                           -                      -           50             0               50                      -           
ENTERPRISE HUB INNOVATION CENT 3,715             989            -                           -                      -           989           406           989                    -           
RAVEN'S COURT MINOR WORKS 462                245            -                          217                     (442)          20             1               20                      -           
RELOCATION OF REGISTRARS      300                296            -                           -                      -           296           71             296                    -           
BRIDGEND/MAESTEG MARKET MINOR WORKS 25                  25              -                           -                      -           25              -           25                      -           
DDA WORKS                     109                109            -                           -                      -           109           34             109                    -           
MINOR WORKS                   320                239            -                          (17)                       -           222           111           222                    -           
FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  216                211            -                           -                      -           211           75             211                    -           
BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES   4,316             192            -                           -                      -           192           40             192                    -           
NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS        480                480            -                           -                     (480)           -            -            -                    -           
WATERTON UPGRADE              8,144             342            -                           -                      -           342            -           342                    -           
CIVIC OFFICE ENVELOPE         2,545             12              -                           -                      -           12             (3)              12                      -           
MINOR WORKS BOILERS            -                (4)               -                    -           
EVERGREEN HALL - LEASE ACQUISITION 40                  40              -                           -                      -           40              -           40                      -           
INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 1,503             2,000         -                          (497)                    (379)          1,124         -           1,124                 -           

Total Corporate Landlord 24,295           5,430         -                          (477)                    (1,301)       3,652        731           3,652                 -           

TOTAL Communities 113,284         25,097      426                          20                       3,955-        21,588      6,493        21,588              -                

CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND  -                200            -                          (200)                     -            -            -            -                    -           

TOTAL Office of Chief Exec  -                200            -                          (200)                     -            -            -            -                    -           

BRYNMENYN HOMELESSNESS UNIT   171                90              -                           -                      -           90             0               90                      -           
MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPEND  2,493             2,493         -                           -                      -           2,493        1,384        2,493                 -           
TARGET HARDENING GRANTS        -                21              -                    -           
HOUSING RENEWAL AREA          101                101            -                           -                      -           101           9               101                    -           

P
age 58



Main Scheme Whole 
Scheme 
Budget

Budget 19-
20 

(Council 
October 

2019)

New Approvals Virement Slippage Revised 
Budget 
2019-20

Total Exp 
to date

Projected 
Spend

Over / 
(Under) 
spend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
EMPTY HOMES GRANT 60              -                   
COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS  -                 -            -                           -                      -            -           12              -                    -           
EMERG REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT    -                 -            -                           -                      -            -           54              -                    -           
ENABLE SUPPORT GRANT  -                 -            -                           -                      -            -           74              -                    -           
HOMES IN TOWN GRANT  -                71              -                    -           

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,765             2,684         -                           -                      -           2,684        1,685        2,684                 -           

ICT LAPTOP REPLACEMENT        400                86              -                           -                      -           86             86             86                      -           
DIGITAL MEETING SPACES        130                100            -                           -                      -           100           65             100                    -           
ICT INFRA SUPPORT             300                300            -                           -                      -           300            -           300                    -           
DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION        1,000             520            -                           -                      -           520            -           520                    -           
DATA CENTRE 330                330            -                           -                      -           330           223           330                    -           

TOTAL ICT 2,160             1,336         -                           -                      -           1,336        374           1,336                 -           

TOTAL Chief Executive 4,925 4,220 0 -200 0 4,020 2,059 4,020 0

GRAND TOTAL 272,781       38,133    725                        -                  (5,158)     33,700    11,050    33,700            -         

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019-2029 Appendix B

CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding

Total Costs 
to 31-3-19

Council 
October 

2019
New 

Approvals Vire Slippage
Revised 
2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 Total 2019 - 2029

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Education & Family Support
Pen Y Fai Primary School 308           308           -           6,883           356                           (48)                      308                                                                                                                                308                       
Coleg Cymunedol y Dderwen Comprehensive School 140           140           -           15                140                                                  140                                                                                                                                140                       
Coety/Parc Derwen Primary School  -            -           -           8,514           46                             (46)                       -                                                                                                                                 -                       
Additional Learning Needs 37             37             -           4,082           37                                                    37                                                                                                                                  37                         
Garw Valley South Primary Provision 160           160           -           10,433         160                                                  160                                                                                                                                160                       
Garw Valley Primary Highways Works 30             30             -           265              30                                                    30                                                                                                                                  30                         
Pencoed Primary School 100           100           -           10,933         100                                                  100                                                                                                                                100                       
Pencoed School Highways Works 65             65             -           355              65                                                    65                                                                                                                                  65                         
Brynmenyn Primary School 44             44             -           8,115           44                                                    44                                                                                                                                  44                         
Brymenyn Primary Highways Works 70             70             -           737              70                                                    70                                                                                                                                  70                         
21st Century Schools Band B 49,454      15,815     33,639      320                                                  320           923           3,566        14,786      18,162      9,321        2,046        330                                     49,454                  
Highways Schemes Band B Schools 3,400        3,400        -                         -           500           2,900                                                                                                   3,400                    
Flying Start Provision 17              -          17             17                                                    17                                                                                                                                  17                         
Heronsbridge Special School  -            -           -           250              50             (50)                                       -                                                                                                                                 -                       
Cwmfelin Primary  -            -           -           24                204                           (204)                     -                                                                                                                                 -                       
School's Capital Maintenance Grant 1,863        1,863       1,685                        46                       1,731        132           1,863                    
Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws 650            -          650           55                                                    55             578           17             650                       
Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 650            -          650                                                                -           55             98             497           650                       
Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore 650            -          650           55                                                    55             98             497                        650                       
Welsh Medium Childcare Provision -Porthcawl 650            -          650                                                                -           55             98             497           650                       
Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes 100           100          100                                       100           100                       
WLGA - Additional funding for ICT in Schools 81              -          81             81                                                    81             81                         
Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Bro Ogwr 200            -          200           10                200                                                  200                                                                                                                                200                       
Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Croesty 540            -          540           17                521                                                  521           19             540                       
Brynteg Comp - East Hub 1,328         -          1,328        1,044        284                           (768)        560           729           39             1,328                    
Schools Minor Works 697           697           -           136              828                           (309)                    519           178                                                                                                                   697                       
Cefn Cribwr Primary School ALN 513           513                                                       513          (387)        126           387           513                       
Schoold Modernisation 591           591                                       48            (48)           -           591           591                       
Maesteg Comprehensive School Highways Improvements  -            -           -           410                                                                   -                                                                                                                                 -                       
Schools Traffic Safety 265           265           -           323              265                                                  265                                                                                                                                265                       
Education S106 Schemes 232            -          232           146              232                                                  232                                                                                                                                232                       
Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools 650           650           -           313              470                           180                     650                                                                                                                                650                       
Total Education and Family Support 63,485 24,848 38,637 51,961 7,175 234 180 -1,203 6,386        4,245 7,215 15,780 18,162 9,321 2,046 330 0 0 63,485                  
Social Services and Well-being
Adult Social Care
Extra Care Facilities 200           200           -           1,717           200                                                  200                                                                                                                                200                       
Adult Social Care Minor works 50             50             -           50                         50                                                                                                                                  50                         
Bryn Y Cae 40             40            40                                         40             40                         
Baker's Way 13             13            13                                         13             13                         
Social Services Care Act 51             51             -           71                51                                                    51                                                                                                                                  51                         
ARCH - Healthy Living and Wellbeing Centre 547           547           -           390              547                                                  547                                                                                                                                547                       
Wellbeing Minor Works 105           105          105                                                  105           105                       
Bryngarw Park- Access 35             35            35                                                    35             35                         
Children's Residential Accommodation Hub - Newbridge House 600           600           -           367              600                                                  600                                                                                                                                600                       
ICF Capital Schemes 65              -          65                                          65                                       65             65                         
Total Social Services and Well-being 1,706 1,641 65 2,545 1,641 65 0 0 1,706        0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,706                    
Communities
Street Scene
Town Beach Revetment Sea Defence, Porthcawl 83             28            55             3,151           83                                                    83                                                                                                                                  83                         
Eastern Promenade, Porthcawl 207           52            155           258              207                                                  207                                                                                                                                207                       
Highways Structural Works 1,987        1,987        -           213              187                                                  187           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           1,987                    
Carriageway Capital Works 2,439        2,439        -           311              189                                                  189           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,439                    
Highways Refurbishment Grant 1,600         -          1,600        1,600                                               1,600        1,600                    
Replacement of Street Lighting Columns 3,854        3,854        -           1,093           230                                                  230           424           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           3,854                    
River Bridge Protection Measures 190           190           -           190                                                  190           190                       
Road Safety 115           115           -           26                115                                                  115                                                                                                                                115                       
Fleet Vehicles 1,972        1,972        -           236              232                                                  232           1,740                                                                                                                1,972                    
Re-locate Household Waste Recycling Centre - West 1,322        1,322        -           6                  30                                                    30             1,292                                                                                                                1,322                    
AHP Waste 238            -          238           238               238           238                       
Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 1,000        1,000        -           3                  1,000                                    (660)        340           660                                                                                                                   1,000                    
Aber Playing Fields 11             11                            11                                                    11             11                         
Bridge Strengthening - A4061 Ogmore Valley 2,034        1,300       734           381              1,220                                               1,220        814                                                                                                                   2,034                    
Communities Minor Works 250           250           -           50                250                                                  250                                                                                                                                250                       
Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 128           128           -                           128                                       (128)         -           128                                                                                                                   128                       
S106 Highways Small Schemes 65              -          65             65                                                    65                                                                                                                                  65                         
Remedial Measures - Car Parks 152           152           -           64                152                                                  152                                                                                                                                152                       
Prow Capital Improvement Programme 40             40             -           40                                                    40                                                                                                                                  40                         
Transport Grant Scheme - Safe Routes to School 243            -          243           928              243                                                  243                                                                                                                                243                       

FUTURE YEARS2019-2020
Total 2019-2029

P
age 61



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding

Total Costs 
to 31-3-19

Council 
October 

2019
New 

Approvals Vire Slippage
Revised 
2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 Total 2019 - 2029

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2019-2020
Total 2019-2029

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn 600           600           -           265                                                                   -           600                                                                                                                   600                       
Active Travel- Pencoed Technology Park 898            -          898           898                                                  898           898                       
Active Travel - Bridgend to Brackla 717            -          717           717                                                  717           717                       
Local Transport Fund - Bus Corridors 150            -          150           150                                                  150           150                       
Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge 240            -          240           240                                                  240           240                       
Local Transport Fund - Bridgend to Coychurch 750            -          750           750                                                  750           750                       
Safe Routes - Coity Higher 218            -          218           218                                                  218           218                       
Coychurch Crem Works 1,008         -          1,008        173                                                  173           835                                                                                                                   1,008                    
Retaining Wall Replacement, Bettws 11             11             -           164              11                                                    11                                                                                                                                  11                         
Civil Parking Enforcement 38             38             -                        38                                       38                                                                                                                                  38                         
City Deal 42,134      7,880       34,254      3,447           2,595                                               2,595        2,957        4,055        4,310        6,029        6,043        7,567        7,570        762           246           42,134                  
Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways 4,003        3,983       20             1,568           550                           (133)                    417           3,586                                                                                                                4,003                    
Extension to Cornelly Cemetery 314           314           -                                                                -           314                                                                                                                   314                       
Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery 216           216           -                                                                -           216                                                                                                                   216                       
Street Lighting Energy Efficiency 2,017        2,017        -           483              600                                                  600           1,417                                                                                                                2,017                    
Regeneration & Development                  -           
Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus 1,216        631          585           1,038           1,144                                               1,144        72                                                                                                                     1,216                    
Coastal Risk Mangement Program - Porthcawl 6,032        1,509       4,523                                                             -           2,750        3,132        150           6,032                    
Porthcawl Regeneration 2,543        2,543        -                            -           2,543                                                                                                                2,543                    
Special Regeneration Funding 990           990           -                           120                           (50)                      70             920                                                                                                                   990                       
Bridgend Townscape Heritage Initiative  -            -           -                                                                -                                                                                                                                 -                       
Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 475           285          190           489              425                           50                       475                                                                                                                                475                       
Economic Stimulus Grant 887           887           -                                                                -           887           887                       
Business Support Framework 180           180           -           27                90                                                    90             90                                                                                                                     180                       
Llynfi Valley Development Programme 2,246        2,246        -           2,246                                               2,246                                                                                                                             2,246                    
Purchase of Land at Salt Lake Car Park, Porthcawl 64             64             -           36                64                                                    64                                                                                                                                  64                         
VRP- Bryngarw Country Park 500            -          500           250                           250           250           500                       
VRP - Parc Slip 400            -          400           329                           329           71             400                       
UCPEF 700            -          700                        100                                      100           600           700                       
UCLG 220            -          220                        50                                       50             170           220                       
Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 7,783        2,752       5,031        417              1,497                        630          (1,577)     550           6,732        501                                                                                                      7,783                    
Smart System and Heat Programme 500           500           -           100                                       (100)         -           450           50                                                                                                        500                       
Caerau Heat Network 6,293         -          6,293                      -           1,939        2,434        1,531        389           6,293                    
Community Projects 778           778           -                           328                                       (189)        139           239           50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             778                       
Corporate Landlord                  
Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy 1,300        1,300        -           50                                                    50             1,250                                                                                                                1,300                    
Investing in Communities 1,124        1,124        -           2,000        (497)         (379)        1,124        1,124                    
Evergreen Hall 40             40             -           40                             40             40                         
Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre 4,199        1,243       2,956        97                989                                                  989           2,458        707           45                                                                                           4,199                    
Raven's Court 462           462          245                           217          (442)        20             442           462                       
Minor Works 9,360        9,360        -           206              239                           (17)                      222           1,228        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130                     9,360                    
Fire Precautions 216           216           -           211                                                  211           5                                                                                                                      216                       
DDA Works 109           109           -           109                                                  109                                                                                                                                109                       
Civic Offices External Envelope 12             12             -           2,538           12                                                    12                                                                                                                                  12                         
Relocation of Depot Facilities 192           192           -           984              192                                                  192                                                                                                                                192                       
Waterton Upgrade 8,144        8,144        -           342                                                  342           2,495        5,307                                                                                                   8,144                    
Bridgend Market 25             25             -           25                                                    25                                                                                                                                  25                         
Relocation of Registrars 296           296           -           4                  296                                                  296                                                                                                                                296                       
Non-Operational Assets 480           480           -                           480                                       (480)         -           480                                                                                                                   480                       
Capital Asset Management Fund 820           820           -           200                           (180)                    20             800                                                                                                                   820                       
Total Communities 129,830 67,087 62,743 18,483 25,097 426 20 -3,955 21,588      42,304 18,216 8,066 8,448 8,073 9,597 9,600 2,792 1,146 129,830                
Chief Executive's
Corporate Capital Fund 1,800        1,800       200                           (200)                     -           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           1,800                    
ICT
Investment in ICT 300           300           -                           300                                                  300                                                                                                                                300                       
Digital Transformation 520           520           -           520                                                  520                                                                                                                                520                       
ICT Laptop Replacement (Life Expired) 86             86             -           314              86                                                    86                                                                                                                                  86                         
Data Centre 330           330           -                           330           330                                                                                                                                330                       
Digital Meeting Spaces 100           100           -           51                100                                                  100                                                                                                                                100                       
Housing / Homelessness                                           
Housing Renewal / Empty Properties 1,001        1,001        -           99                101                                                  101           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           1,001                    
Disabled Facilities Grants 20,043      20,043      -           1,623           2,493                                               2,493        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        20,043                  
Brynmenyn Homelessness Unit 90             90             -           81                90                                                    90                                                                                                                                  90                         
Total Chief Executive's 24,270 24,270 0 2,168 4,220 0 -200 0 4,020        2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250 24,270                  
Unallocated 8,155        8,155        -                                                                                -           713                                                               477           1,725        2,055        3,185        8,155                    
Total  Expenditure 227,446 126,001 101,445 75,157 38,133 725 0 -5,158 33,700      49,512 27,681 26,096 28,860 19,644 14,370 13,905 7,097 6,581 227,446                
Expected Capital Resources
General Capital Funding
General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 27,342      27,342      -           3,727        3,727        4,439        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        27,342                  
General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 39,428      39,428      -           3,938        3,938        3,986        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        39,428                  

P
age 62



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding

Total Costs 
to 31-3-19

Council 
October 

2019
New 

Approvals Vire Slippage
Revised 
2019-20 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 Total 2019 - 2029

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2019-2020
Total 2019-2029

Capital Receipts - Schools 808           808           -           488                                       (281)        207           601                                                                                                                   808                       
Capital Receipts - General 19,619      19,619      -           5,016                                    (1,400)     3,616        10,696      5,307                                                                                                   19,619                  
Earmarked Reserves 25,309      25,309      -           7,308        (50)                           (1,706)     5,552        7,076        3,987        1,677        3,185        1,082        1,375        1,375                                  25,309                  
Revenue Contribution 844           844           -           805           38                            (48)          795           49                                                                                                                     844                       
Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 3,986        3,986        -           282                                                  282           3,704                                                                                                                3,986                    
Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 4,402        4,402        -           67                                                    67             2,035        2,300                                                                                                   4,402                    
SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 2,017        2,017        -           600                                                  600           1,417                                                                                                                2,017                    
Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,246        2,246        -           2,246                                               2,246        2,246                    
Sub-Total General Capital Funding 126,001 126,001 0 24,477 -12 0 -3,435 21,030      34,003 17,929 8,012 9,520 7,417 7,710 7,710 6,335 6,335 126,001                
External Funding Approvals
WG - Highways Grant 1,600         -          1,600        1,600                               1,600                                                                                                   1,600                    
WG - Other 905            -          905           117           238                           (100)        255           530           120                                                                                         905                       
WG - 21st Century Schools 34,918       -          34,918      1,044        284               (768)        560           729           39             11,852      14,004      7,266        468                                                  34,918                  
WG - Safe Routes in Communities 461            -          461           461                           461                                                                                                                                461                       
WG - Porthcawl Revetment 55              -          55             55                             55                                                                                                                                  55                         
WG - Coastal Risk Mangement Program - Porthcawl 4,523         -          4,523         -           2,062        2,349        112           4,523                    
WG - Eastern Promenade 155            -          155           155                           155                                                                                                                                155                       
WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 65              -          65                          65                65                                                                                                                                  65                         
WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,600         -          2,600        110           110           786           710           994                                                                                         2,600                    
WG - Infant Class Size Grant 740            -          740           721                      721           19                                                                                                                     740                       
WG - Economic Stimulus Grant 887            -          887           887                                       887           887                       
WG- VRP 900            -          900           579                           579           321           900                       
WG - TRI 920            -          920                        150                                      150           770           920                       
Westminster 30,677       -          30,677      1,989                        1,989        1,988        3,128        3,128        4,504        4,505        5,722        5,713                                  30,677                  
CSC Foundry 3,577         -          3,577                      -           113           175           430           443           456           470           482           762           246           3,577                    
S106 346            -          346           346                           346                                                                                                                                346                       
Transport Grant 2,755         -          2,755        2,755                   2,755                                                                                                                             2,755                    
Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 1,007         -          1,007        541                           (301)        240           671           96                                                                                                        1,007                    
EU  12,694       -          12,694      1,675                        (437)        1,238        6,364        3,135        1,568        389                                                                            12,694                  
Other 1,660         -          1,660        621                                       (117)        504           1,156                                                                                                                1,660                    
Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 101,445 0 101,445 13,656 737 0 -1,723 12,670      15,509 9,752 18,084 19,340 12,227 6,660 6,195 762 246 101,445                
Total Funding Available 227,446 126,001 101,445 38,133 725 0 -5,158 33,700      49,512 27,681 26,096 28,860 19,644 14,370 13,905 7,097 6,581 227,446                

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2019-20  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. Table 1 shows the 2018-19 
actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by Council on 20 February 2019 
and the latest projection for the current financial year which has incorporated slippage of 
schemes from 2018-19 together with any new grants and contributions or changes in the profile 
of funding.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

 Oct19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

Council Fund services 27.614 37.653 33.700 

Investment Properties - 0.480 0.000 

TOTAL 27.614 33.133 33.700 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
net financing requirement (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned 
financing of the expenditure has been projected Table 2 is as follows: 
 
Table 2: Capital financing 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

External sources 12.407 19.629 18,643 

Own resources 9.045 13.617 10,170 

Net Financing 
Requirement  

6.162 4.887 4,887 

TOTAL 27.614 38.133 33.700 

 

The net financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and 
leases must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 
Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The Council changed its policy on MRP in 2018-19 which is why this has reduced 
from 2017-18 but it is still considered a prudent provision. The total of these are shown in 
Table 3 below:- 
 
 

Page 65



Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 2.858 2.885 2.885 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision 1.459 1.504 1.548 

Total MRP & VRP 4.317 4.389 4.433 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 0.641 0.690 0.690 

Total Own Resources 4.958 5.079 5.123 

 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure at quarter 3: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 
Estimate 
(Council 
Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 
Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement    
Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 
liabilities 

 
153.240 

 
155.084 

 
155.084 

Opening PFI CFR 17.640 17.000 17.000 
Total opening CFR 170.880 172.084 172.084 
Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 
other liabilities 

 
1.845 

 
0.498 

 
0.454 

Movement in PFI CFR (0.641) (0.690) (0.690) 
Total movement in CFR 1.204 (0.192) (0.236) 
Closing CFR 172.084 171.892 171.848 
Movement in CFR represented by:    
Net financing need for year (Table 2 
above) 

6.162 4.887 4.887 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 
provisions 

 
(4.317) 

 
(4.389) 

 
(4.433) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 
leases (Table 3) 

 
(0.641) 

 
(0.690) 

 
(0.690) 

Total movement 1.204 (0.192) (0.236) 
 
 

The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 

Page 66



total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:-    
 
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 114.750 114.882 114.220 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

172.084 171.892 171.848 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 
 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

Authorised limit – 
borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 
long term liabilities 

140.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

Authorised Limit Total 170.000 200.000 200.000 

Operational boundary – 
borrowing 

Operational boundary – 
other long term liabilities 

105.000 

 

25.000 

115.000 

 

20.000 

115.000 

 

20.000 

Operational Boundary 
Limit Total 

130.000 135.000 135.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 
Long Term Liabilities 

114.750 114.882 114.220 

 
 

 

 

Page 67



Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 
net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants. 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2018-19 
Actual 

£m 

2019-20 

Estimate 

(Council  

Oct 19) 

£m 

2019-20 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

6.451 6.509 6.551 

Other Financing costs  3.406 3.451 3.451 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

9.857 9.960 10.001 

Proportion of net revenue stream 3.71% 3.68% 3.69% 

 

This shows that in 2018-19, 3.69% of our net revenue income was spent paying back the costs 
of capital expenditure. 

Page 68



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

21 JANUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE AND SECTION 151 
OFFICER

NON DOMESTIC RATES: DISCRETIONARY RELIEF: HIGH STREET AND 
RETAIL RATES RELIEF SCHEME 2020-21

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is for Cabinet to adopt the Welsh 
Government’s High Street and Retail Rates Relief Scheme for 2020-21.

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives/Other Corporate 
Priorities

2.1      The outcome of this Scheme is aligned to:-

 Supporting a successful economy – helping businesses to reduce 
their rates charges for the period 01/04/20 – 31/03/21 in order to 
support continued occupation of the High Street and Retail premises.  

3. Background

3.1   The Welsh Government has announced that a High Street and Retail 
Rates Relief Scheme will be available for 2020-21 to support businesses 
within the retail sector in Wales. This relief will be in conjunction with the 
Small Business Rates Relief. The Scheme sets out the various 
categories of retail premises that will benefit from relief. These are 
detailed in Appendix A of the report, but broadly the premises included 
are those that have a rateable value of £50,000 or less; are occupied; 
and are wholly or mainly used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking 
establishments. (These categories are intended to cover premises that 
are being used for the sale of goods and/or services, or food and/or 
drink, to visiting members of the public). As in 2019-20, the 2020-21 
scheme is not limited to high street premises but will include all 
properties within the County borough who meet the wider criteria. 

3.2    The Scheme will be administered by the Council as a ‘reimbursing local 
authority’ that uses discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988).  It will be for individual local billing 
authorities to decide to grant relief under section 47 but Welsh 
Government will reimburse local authorities for the relief that is provided.  

3.3    The Welsh Government will provide relief of up to £2,500 for qualifying 
occupied retail properties with a rateable value of up to £50,000 in the 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



financial year 2020-21, subject to State Aid limits of up to €200,000 in a 
three year period.  

3.4   The High Street and Retail Rates Relief Scheme for 2020-21 will run 
alongside the Small Business Rates Relief Scheme.

3.5     It is estimated that in the region of 1,000 ratepayers across the Borough 
could potentially benefit from reduced rates bills under this Scheme.

4.        Current situation / Proposal

4.1    The Council can elect to adopt the Scheme but does not have discretion 
over any elements of the Scheme. It is proposed that the Council adopts 
the Scheme for 2020-21 by making the appropriate determination and 
decision, as required by Sections 47(1)(a) and 47(3) respectively of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988.  

4.2     Full details of the High Street and Retail Rates Relief Scheme for 2020-
21 and the guidance on the application of the Scheme have been 
received from Welsh Government. If the Scheme is adopted, those 
businesses benefiting from the scheme in 2019-20 and still meeting the 
criteria set by Welsh Government will be awarded the relief for 2020-21 
automatically. However application forms will be issued to all new 
qualifying business properties. It is proposed that upon receipt of a valid 
application form, the decision to award relief be made by the Revenues 
Manager providing all terms of the Scheme are met.  

4.3 The Chief Executive has delegated power to award relief to all qualifying 
businesses in accordance with the Non-domestic Rates Relief Scheme 
that may be eligible following receipt of a valid application form.  

5        Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedures Rules

5.1    There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and 
procedure rules.

           
6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial assessment has identified that there are no equality implications 
arising from this report.  

6.2 Once adopted, the Council is obliged to comply with the Welsh 
Government’s rules in applying the Scheme. These are detailed in 
Appendix A.

7.         Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the 
preparation of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being 
goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

Page 70



8. Financial Implications

8.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Council in adopting the 
scheme. The full value of the High Street and Retail Rates Relief 
awarded will be reimbursed by the Welsh Government along with an 
allowance for the cost of administration.

9.   Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1 Adopt the Non Domestic Rates High Street and Retail Rates Relief 
Scheme for 2020-21 as detailed within Appendix A;

Gill Lewis
Interim Head of Finance & Section 151 Officer
10 January 2020

Contact Officer: Helen Rodgers 
                                Revenues Manager                                 
                    
Telephone: 01656 643194

Email:                     Helen.Rodgers@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address:    Ravens Court
                               Brewery Lane
                               Bridgend 
                               CF31 4AP 

Background documents: 

Non-domestic Rates High Street and Retail Rates Relief in Wales - 2020-21
Guidance

Page 71

mailto:Helen.Rodgers@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Resolution

(a) The Council determines that, unless hereditaments are excepted under (b) below, 
Section 47(1)(a) (discretionary relief) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 will apply as 
regards the hereditaments described in ‘The Scheme’ in accordance with the rules described 
in relation to those hereditaments.

It is reasonable for the Council to make this decision having regard to the interests of persons 
liable to pay business rates set by the Council.

(b)  Relief is not available under this resolution in respect of any hereditament which is 
occupied by -
- the Welsh Ministers, a Minister of the Crown or government department,
- any public authority (including any local authority),
- the holder of any public office, or
- the Crown

(c) The Council decides, under Section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, 
that during the billing year 2020-21 ‘The Scheme’ shall apply to the hereditaments 
described.. 

The Scheme to be Adopted

Introduction

This relief scheme has been extended for a further year for 2020-21. It is aimed at high street 
businesses and retailers in Wales, for example shops, pubs, restaurants and cafes 

The Welsh Government will provide up to £2500 discount to eligible high street retailers 
occupying premises with a rateable value of £50,000 or less in the financial year 2020-21, 
subject to State Aid limits. 

Properties that will benefit from this relief will be occupied high street businesses and retail 
properties such as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments, with a rateable 
value of £50,000 or less on 1 April 2020. 

It is intended that, for the purposes of this scheme, retail properties such as, “shops, 
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments” will mean the following (subject to the other 
criteria in this guidance). 

 Premises that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the public 

- Shops (such as florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, stationers, off-
licences, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc)

- Opticians 
- Pharmacies 
- Post offices 
- Furnishing shops or display rooms (such as carpet shops, double glazing, garage doors) 

Page 72



- Car or caravan showrooms 
- Second hard car lots 
- Markets 
- Petrol stations 
- Garden centres 
- Art galleries (where art is for sale or hire) 

i.  Premises that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting members 
of the public 

- Hair and beauty services 
- Shoe repairs or key cutting 
- Travel agents 
- Ticket offices, eg. for theatre 
- Dry cleaners 
- Launderettes 
- PC, TV or domestic appliance repair 
- Funeral directors 
-    Photo processing 
-    DVD or video rentals 
-    Tool hire 
-    Car hire 
-    Cinemas 
-    Estate and letting agents 

ii. Premises that are being used for the sale of food and / or drink to visiting members of the 
public 

- Restaurants 
- Drive-through or drive-in restaurants 
- Takeaways 
- Sandwich shops 
- Cafés 
- Coffee shops 
- Pubs 
- Wine Bars 

To qualify for the relief a hereditament listed in (i) to (iii) should be wholly or mainly used as a 
shop, restaurant, café or drinking establishment. This is a test on use rather than occupation. 
Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to list all the 
many and varied high street retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses. However, it 
is intended to be a guide as to the types of uses that the Welsh Government considers 
should qualify for the High Street Rate Relief Scheme. Determinations will be required as to 
whether particular properties not listed are broadly similar in nature to those above and, if so, 
to consider them eligible for the relief. Conversely, properties that are not broadly similar in 
nature to those listed above should not be eligible for the relief. 

Page 73



As the grant of the relief is discretionary, local authorities may choose not to grant the relief if 
they consider that to be appropriate, however it is highly unlikely that the Council would not 
wish an eligible business to benefit from the reduction in rates that the scheme affords.

There are certain business types that Welsh Government has specifically excluded from the 
scheme namely:

i. Premises that are being used for the provision of the following services:

- Financial services (eg. banks, building societies, cash points, ATMs, bureaux de change, 
payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 

- Medical services (eg. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 
- Professional services (eg. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents, financial advisers, 

tutors) 
- Post office sorting office 
- Tourism accommodation, eg. B&Bs, hotel accommodation and caravan parks 
- Sports clubs 
- Children’s play centres 
- Day nurseries 
- Outdoor activity centres 
- Gyms 
- Kennels and catteries 
- Show homes and marketing suites 
- Employment agencies 

There are a number of further types of hereditaments which the Welsh Government believes 
should not be eligible for the high street relief scheme:

ii. Premises with a rateable value of more than £50,000 

It is recognised there are some  retail businesses with rateable value above the £50,000 
relief who  will not be eligible for this relief. Local authorities have the option to use their 
discretionary powers to offer discounts outside this scheme to such businesses if it is in the 
interest of the local community to do so.

iii. Premises that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public 

If a business is not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public, it will be ineligible 
for relief under the scheme.
iv. Premises that are not occupied 

Properties that are not occupied on 1 April 2020 should be excluded from this relief. There 
are other statutory rate reliefs that provide reductions under certain circumstances for empty 
properties.

v. Premises owned, rented or managed by a local authority

Premises that are owned, rented or managed by a local authority such as Visitor Centres, 
Tourist Information shops and council run coffee shops/gift shops attached to historic buildings 
are exempt from this scheme.

Page 74



vi. Premises that are in receipt of mandatory charitable rates relief 

The properties, such as charity shops are are excluded from receiving additional relief under 
the High Street Relief Scheme as they already  receive mandatory charitable relief which gives 
an 80% reduction in liability. 

Other Considerations 

Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to High Street Rates Relief for 
each of their eligible properties, subject to State Aid de minimis limits. 

Eligibility for the relief will be calculated based on the circumstances of the property and 
ratepayer as at 1 April 2020 Changes to properties which occur after this date will have no 
impact on eligibility for this relief. 

Empty properties becoming occupied after 1 April 2020 will not qualify for this relief. 

If there is a change in occupier part way through the financial year, after relief has already 
been provided to the hereditament, the new occupier will qualify for the relief on a pro-rata 
basis based on the remaining days of occupation. 

This treatment is intended to simplify the administration of the scheme but also reflects that the 
relief is to help support those affected by the revaluation. It is assumed that the rateable values 
for properties being occupied after 1 April 2018 will have been known in advance.

State Aid 

Awards made under the High Street Rate Relief Scheme will in most instances count as state 
aid and the European Union regulates state funded support to businesses. 

The De Minimis Regulation allows an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of De Minimis aid 
in a three-year period (consisting of the current financial year and the two previous financial 
years). 

To administer the scheme and comply with the De Minimis regulations it is necessary for the 
council to establish that the award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more 
than €200,000 of De Minimis aid. The threshold only relates to aid provided under the De 
Minimis Regulations (aid under other exemptions or outside the scope of State Aid is not 
relevant to the De Minimis calculation). 

To comply with the state aid rules all ratepayers will be required to declare if they consider that 
they have exceeded the de minimis limits and will be sent a form for this purpose.

Further information on the state aid and de Minimis rules can be found at:

http://gov.wales/funding/state-aid/de-minimis-aid/?lang=en
 
http://ec.europa.eu/competition/state_aid/legislation/de_minimis_regulation_en.pdf 

Page 75

http://gov.wales/funding/state-aid/de-minimis-aid/?lang=en%20
http://gov.wales/funding/state-aid/de-minimis-aid/?lang=en%20
http://ec.europa.eu/competition/state_aid/legislation/de_minimis_regulation_en.pdf%20


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

21 JANUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF OPERATIONAL SERVICES - COMMUNITIES

RE-DEVELOPMENT OF MAESTEG TOWN HALL

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To seek Cabinet approval to enter a construction contract with Knox and 
Wells Ltd for the re-development of Maesteg Town Hall.

2 Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 
Priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priorities:

 Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county 
a good place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and 
to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications 
and ambitions of all people in the county. 

 Helping people to be more self-reliant – taking early steps to reduce 
or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the 
Council and its services.

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the development of resources 
throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities.

3 Background

3.1 Maesteg Town Hall is a grade II listed building located within a conservation 
area. It occupies a prominent position in Maesteg Town Centre and is a 
focal point for arts and community activity in the Lynfi valley. The venue 
hosts a programme of professional and amateur performances and provides 
rehearsal and meeting space for many local groups and organisations. 
Bridgend County Borough Council (the Authority), in partnership with Awen 
Cultural Trust, are looking to redevelop the Town Hall into a cultural 
community venue to support the social and economic regeneration of the 
town and wider valley communities.

3.2 Several reports on the proposed restoration and redevelopment of Maesteg 
Town Hall have been presented to Cabinet at project milestone stages:

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



 4 October 2016: Cabinet Report to seek Cabinet approval to 
commence development and delivery work to secure regeneration 
for Maesteg Town Hall

 30 January 2018: Cabinet Report to provide an update on the 
Maesteg Town Hall project 

 21 January 2020: Capital Programme Update – Quarter 3 2019-20 
report to Cabinet

3.3 In April 2019 Knox and Wells Ltd were appointed to undertake the first stage 
of a two stage design and build contract. This appointment was made 
through the South East and Mid Wales Collaborative Construction 
Framework under a pre-construction agreement to complete the Royal 
Institute of British Architects (RIBA) 4 technical design and provide a price 
for the construction works before the award of the main construction 
contract once the design is approved and the contract sum agreed. 

4 Current Situation 
    

4.1 The Authority has appointed a multi-disciplinary team to deliver the concept 
design and cost for the proposed repair, restoration and extension of 
Maesteg Town Hall. The design team include:

 The MACE Group – Project management and cost consultancy
 Knox and Wells Ltd – Design and Build Contractors (appointed 

currently for their professional design services)
 Purcell Architects – Architects 
 Musker Sumner partnership – Civil Engineers
 Hoare Lea – Mechanical and Electrical Consultants 

To date the design team have:

 undertaken several surveys within the building
 progressed the designs in line with survey findings 
 provided a proposed cost plan 

The team are currently reviewing an array of cost items. As a summary the 
Mace Group are reviewing the overall construction package which take into 
account both principal contractor (Knox and Wells Ltd) costs as well as 
supply chain cost returns.  Knox and Wells are reviewing solely the supply 
chain cost returns.  

4.2 The project is nearing RIBA stage 4b technical design and cost completion. 
The Town Hall closed in October 2019 and Awen Cultural Trust have 
decanted the building. Due to a delay in the return of sub-contractor tender 
returns there has been a slight delay in construction start, however the 
project is now at the stage where there is a need to enter into the second 
stage of the design and build contract so that construction works can 
commence. The contract value for this element will be £6.5 million of the 
total project costs of £8.2 million included in the Capital Programme Update 

Page 78



Quarter 3 report presented to Cabinet 21 January 2020, and to Council for 
approval on 22 January 2020.

5 Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules

5.1 There is no effect on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules. 

6 Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment screening has highlighted that no 
negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics as a 
result of the recommendation of this report. The proposed scheme will 
develop full disabled access to the Town Hall for the first time. The project 
as a whole will ensure that there is a positive impact on the equalities 
agenda. 

7 Well-being Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment 

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment 
Template has been completed and a summary of the implications from the 
assessment relating to the five ways of working is below:

 Long Term: The regeneration of the Town Hall will drive local 
prosperity, providing local employment opportunities and offering 
better environments to promote the health and wellbeing of those 
who live, work and visit town centres in the long term.

 Prevention:  By improving the Town Hall it will strengthen the existing 
economic assets of not just the Town Hall but surrounding 
businesses while diversifying its economic base. Converting 
underutilised commercial space into economically productive 
property also helps boost the profitability of the town centre. 

 Integration: The project will focus on delivering a set of physical, 
commercial and social improvements though re-developing an iconic 
Grade II listed building which in recent years has been under used. 
The project will generate employment opportunities; provide a 
prominent and suitable arena for commercial, learning and cultural 
use and help sustain Maesteg Town Centre and increase town centre 
footfall. 

 Collaboration: The Authority will be undertaking a partnership 
approach to deliver positive enhancement to a key site that will 
include for repair, restoration and extension of a prominent listed 
building. The Authority, in partnership with our cultural services 
providers Awen Cultural Trust, have carefully developed the project 
through a combination of consultation and community engagement, 
technical testing and development.

Page 79



 Involvement: Investing in a community offers a means to connect with 
local stakeholders.  Strong, resilient communities will reinforce the 
regional and Welsh culture which is a key feature in promoting visitors 
and tourists to the area.  Increased visitor numbers to the Town Hall 
will help to make the Cardiff Capital Region a more prosperous 
environment.

8 Financial Implications
8.1 The total costs of the scheme as reported to Council in the Capital 

Programme Update Quarter 3 is £8.2 million.  The result of the tender 
exercise for contract works sets the contract value at £6.5 million.  The 
project will be subject to a value engineering exercise to seek reductions in 
the total scheme cost where possible, without detriment to the overall 
redevelopment.  

8.2 The Capital Programme Update Quarter 3 includes the Maesteg Town Hall 
scheme.  Award of the contract will be subject to Council approving the 
revised Capital Programme on 22 January 2020.

9 Recommendation 
9.1 Subject to approval of the revised project budget as set out in the Capital 

Programme Update report to Council on 22 January 2020, Cabinet is 
recommended to:

 Delegate authority to the Head of Operations - Community Services, in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and the Chief Officer - Legal, HR 
& Regulatory Services, to enter into a construction contract with Knox and 
Wells Ltd of £6.5million and all such other ancillary contractual 
documentation as shall be necessary to complete the Maesteg Town Hall 
Re-development construction project. 

ZAK SHELL
Head of Operations - Community Services 
15 January 2020
Contact Officers:  Delyth Webb, Group Manager – Strategic Regeneration
Telephone: 01656 815207
E-mail: delyth.webb@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council

Communities Directorate
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents: 
 4 October 2016: Cabinet Report to seek Cabinet approval to 

commence development and delivery work to secure regeneration 
for Maesteg Town Hall

 30 January 2018: Cabinet Report to provide an update on the 
Maesteg Town Hall project 

 21 January 2020: Capital Programme Update – Quarter 3 2019-20 
report to Cabinet

 Well-being Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment 

Page 80

mailto:delyth.webb@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

21 JANUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF OPERATIONAL SERVICES – COMMUNITIES

BRIDGEND SHOPMOBILITY SCHEME 

1. Purpose of Report.

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval for proposals to meet the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) budget reduction requirement in respect 
of the operation of Bridgend Shopmobility Scheme.  

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 
Priorities.

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priority/priorities:  

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

3. Background.

3.1 Shopmobility is a scheme operated by Bridgend County Borough Council from 
premises within the Brackla multi storey car park which lends manual wheelchairs, 
powered wheelchairs and powered scooters to members of the public with limited 
mobility, to shop and to visit leisure and commercial facilities within Bridgend Town 
Centre. The facility is open between 08:30am and 5.00pm on Monday to 
Saturday.

3.2 Shopmobility in Bridgend is for anyone, young or old, whether their disability is 
temporary or permanent. It is available for those with injuries, long or short-term 
disabilities – anyone who needs help with mobility. Shopmobility is about the 
freedom to get around. There is no specific requirement for someone to be 
disabled to use it. 

3.3 Shopmobility actively encourages inclusion and equality by providing the 
environment for wheelchairs, power chairs and scooters to be used safely. 

3.4 The MTFS 2019-20 to 2022-23 budget reduction proposal COM 26, which was 
approved by Council on 20 February 2019 proposed savings of £5,000 in 2019-20 
and a further £10,000 in 2020-21 predicated on the introduction of charging to 
users of the Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to reduce/remove the 
current level of subsidy. 

3.5 The provision is not a statutory duty and one not provided in other town centres of 
the county borough or in many of the town centres of neighbouring authorities. On 
this basis it is reasonable to investigate whether introducing charging for use is a 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



viable way of reducing the overall cost of the service. If however this does not 
prove feasible, in order to make the full saving required over successive financial 
years closure of the facility may prove necessary. 

4. Current situation / proposal.

4.1 To utilise the Shopmobility Scheme customers are required to join the scheme for 
which there is currently no charge. Once registered, customers tender a £2 
deposit for the use of the apparatus. On their return the £2 deposit may be 
refunded if requested. This deposit was first introduced some 15 years ago and 
has remained unchanged since then. Of note the majority of users currently 
donate the £2 deposit. 

4.2 The figures shown in the table below gives a brief summary of Shopmobility 
finances for 2018/19 financial year.

Costs related to opening hours  £29,800
Total site costs, administrative expenses and maintenance of 
equipment

£8,200

Donations (4,056) hires (£7,300)
Net operating cost £30,700

4.3 As indicated in paragraph 4.2, the service receives donations of circa £7,300 from 
users of the service but still has a deficit of £30,700, which is subsidised by 
Bridgend County Borough Council. As well as the shortfall indicated above there 
are various indirect costs associated with the facility such as its location in the 
Brackla multistorey carpark which removes car parking spaces, and therefore 
potential income. Additionally, costs such as rates and utilities are absorbed in the 
Car Park management costs. 

4.4 Some staffing costs are also absorbed, as when the current shopmobility staff are 
absent due to sick leave or on annual leave, then their shifts are covered by 
Council staff from other areas within the Communities Directorate.  

4.5 Usage figures are as follows:
  

2016/17  recorded usage 4,088
2017/18  recorded usage 3,993
2018/19  recorded usage 4,056. 

4.6 There are other Shopmobility schemes in Wales which have different ways of 
operating the scheme. These can vary between charging a membership fee every 
year, to also having a hiring out fee every time a mobility scooter is utilised.

4.7 A range of interventions have been explored based around differing operating 
models and examination of current usage. This examination resulted in the 
following proposals: 

 Change the opening time from 08:30am – 5pm to 10am - 4pm - usage 
identified very few transactions before 10am, whereas the bulk of usage is 
between the hours of 10am until 4pm. This change would reduce the operational 

Page 82



time from 51 hours to 36 hours and make a financial saving in respect of 
operational costs.

 Introduce a £5 annual registration fee – An annual registration fee of £5 based 
upon approximately 200 members would provide a possible off-set in costs of 
£1,000 per year. Currently, any joining member receives a membership card after 
providing evidence of residence or provision of security against the loan of a 
scooter for persons residing outside the borough. The charge would offset the 
administration cost for production of the membership photo card, and maintenance 
of an up to-date database. The annual membership/renewal fee of £5 would 
include the first hire on renewal or new membership.

 Introduction of a £5 fee when equipment is hired – This would require 
Shopmobility members to pay for the service every time they use it instead of the 
£2 donation as is currently the case which based on 2018-19 usage would equate 
to a financial contribution of £20,280.  

 Seek Grant Funding – As the provision is specifically aimed at persons with 
mobility issues it may be possible to secure government grants towards capital 
purchase of equipment. However, there are no guarantees that such funding 
would be forthcoming or be provided on a long term basis.    

Consultation and Consideration of Proposals 

4.8 The consideration of users paying for shopmobility services formed part of the 
Council’s ‘Shaping Bridgend’s Future’ 2018 consultation whereby respondents 
were 48% in favour of exploring options of charging for the shopmobility service. 

4.9 In addition to this consultation, 281 letters dated 30 August 2019 were sent to 
current members of the scheme to gauge their views on the proposals regarding 
operational times and proposed hire charges. The greatest concern related to the 
charge for the hire of the mobility scooter. 39% of respondents indicated that a 
charge of £5.00 per hire would not prove affordable and made alternative 
proposals that have been considered in arriving at the proposed 
recommendations.  

4.10  All expressed a dependency on this service in one form or another to assist in 
mobility issues. From this engagement it is recommended that the charge should 
be £3.00 per hire. Based on 2018-19 usage, this would equate to a financial 
contribution of £12,168.

4.11 In relation to opening times 80% of responses were not against such a proposal 
but 20% of responses did indicate that this may impact upon either early shopping 
or medical appointments.  In consideration of the comments it is recommended to 
amend the proposal of opening times from 10am until 4pm to   9:15am until 4pm 
providing an operational time from 51 hours to 40.5 hours. 

5. Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules.

5.1 There is no effect upon Policy Framework or Procedure Rules

Page 83



6. Equalities Impact Assessment

6.1 An full equality impact assessment has been carried out and is attached at  
Appendix 1 for information.  

7.0 Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is outlined below in respect of the proposed 
changes to the Shopmobility Scheme:

 Long-term
The proposal seeks sustainable funding for the provision of the Bridgend 
shopmobility scheme.  

 Prevention
The proposal seeks sustainable sources of funding for the shopmobility 
scheme to ensure that the facility can be correctly maintained and managed 
for the benefit of the membership  

 Integration
The provision of a shopmobility scheme enables persons with mobility 
issues to access services within the town centre  

 Collaboration
The facility enables persons without access to mobility scooters to spot hire 
to enable access to services within the town centre, thus the proposal 
seeks to ensure sustainability for such provision

 Involvement
The proposal has been subject to the Council’s consultation process in 
regard of MTFS and engagement has taken place with scheme members.  

8. Financial Implications.

8.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy includes a budget reduction of £5,000 in 
2019-20 with a move to full cost recovery beyond that. The proposals in this report 
seek to address the initial saving as well as mechanisms to move towards full cost 
recovery with implementation from 1st April 2020. 

8.2 The following table is the potential impact of the revised proposals based upon 
200 members and 4,000 hires per annum:- 

Hire charge contribution £12,000
Membership fee 
contribution 

£1,000

Savings related to running 
costs

£10,000

Total £23,000
External Grant  
contribution 

£5,000

Page 84



9. Recommendation.

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approves the following proposals to meet the 
MTFS budget reductions requirement in respect of the operation of the Bridgend 
Shopmobility Scheme with implementation from 1st April 2020:

 Changes to the Shopmobility opening time from 08:30am – 5pm  to 09:15am – 
4pm

 Introduction of an annual registration fee of £5, includes the first hire on renewal or 
new membership.   

 Introduction of a daily hire charge of £3 
 Delegated authority is given to the Corporate Director for Communities to 

authorise future changes to the Bridgend Shopmobility service

9.2 Cabinet should also note that Officers will continue to explore the opportunity for 
external grant funding to support the service.

 

Zak Shell
HEAD OF OPERATIONS – COMMUNITY SERVICES   
January 2020

Contact Officer: Kevin Mulcahy 
Group Manager: Highways and Green Spaces

Telephone: (01656) 642535

E-mail: kevin.mulcahy@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment - dated 19 Nov 2019

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix1 
Equality Impact Full Assessment

Name of project, policy, function, service or proposal being 
assessed:

Shopmobility provision  - proposed introduction of 
a charge for the service and changes to opening 
hours

Date EIA Screening assessment completed: September 2019
Full assessment date for completion (from EIA screening): November 2019

At this stage you will need to re-visit your initial screening template to inform your consultation and refer to guidance notes on completing a full EIA

Consultation
Method Action Points

Who do you need to consult with (which equality groups)? 

Members of the shop mobility scheme and the local 
equality forum 

Letter with return SAE  
sent to all current 
shopmobility service users 

 

How will you ensure your consultation is inclusive? Letter provided in Welsh 
and English.

All current registered 
users of the service were 
included in the 
consultation. 

What consultation was carried out? 
Consider any consultation activity already carried out, 
which may not have been specifically about equality but 
may have information you can use

The proposals for charging 
for shopmobility had been 
outlined in the MTFS 
consultation proposals for 
2019-20 to 2022-23. 

This consultation ran from 24 
September to 18 Nov 2018

From this consultation 48% of 
responders indicated that we 
should explore charging for 
shopmobility – the council is 
therefore exploring options for 

P
age 87

file:///C:/Users/shortr/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/1IYA0WY4/Full%20EIA%20Guidance.doc


2

2,677 survey responses 
were received to the 
MTFS consultation 2018. 

The letter sent to all 
current service users 
outlined the following 
proposals:

Introduce a charge for hire 
of £5 per day

Introduce amended 
opening hours from 08:30 
am to 5pm daily to 10am – 
4pm daily (Monday to 
Saturday) 

charging for the service with 
current shopmobility users. 

Record of consultation with people from equality groups
Group or persons consulted Date/venue and number of 

people
Feedback/areas of concern 
raised 

Action Points

Current shopmobility service 
users 

281 letters sent 41 written responses received 

18 (44%) stated they agreed with 
proposals 

16 (39%) provided alternative 
proposals. Alternatives suggested 
included a lesser fee £3 instead of 
£5. Some suggested an hourly 
tariff. 

Consideration given 
to alternative 
proposals 

P
age 88



3

Also suggested maintaining a 
longer opening hours than the 
proposed 10am – 4pm 

7(17%) did not agree with 
proposals 

Assessment of Impact
Based on the data you have analysed, and the results of consultation or research, consider what the potential impact will be upon 
people with protected characteristics (negative or positive). Include any examples of how the policy helps to promote equality. If you 
do identify any adverse impact you must seek legal advice as to whether, based on the evidence provided, an adverse impact 
is or is potentially discriminatory, and identify steps to mitigate any adverse impact – these actions will need to be included 
in your action plan.

Impact or potential impact Actions to mitigate
Gender  No specific impact identified from 

consultation 
None identified 

Disability The majority of users of this service have 
needs related to a disability or limited 
mobility. 

The proposal made was an opening time 
of 10am until 4pm – in this regard 
responses indicated a potential impact on 
medical appointments and accessing 
services within the town centre

Also in terms of the proposed hire charge 
of £5 – whilst 44% of respondents agreed 
with this proposal there was also a 

The original proposals have been 
amended to take into consideration 
feedback from service users as detailed 
below: 

Whilst the provision is not specifically to 
allow access to doctors surgeries that 
may be located in the town consideration 
of the 10am opening has been made 
against the comments received and the 
proposal now reflects revised opening 
hours of 09:15 until 4pm.

P
age 89



4

significant response (39%) who 
commented on the hire charge, and 
offered an alternative amount for 
consideration. 

In response to the feedback received in 
relation to the proposed fee this has now 
been amended in the proposals to £3 
instead of £5. 

The introduction of a membership 
joining/renewal fee of £5 which would 
include the first hire on renewal or new 
membership  

Race No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Religion and belief No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Sexual Orientation No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Age The majority of users of this service have 
needs related to a disability or limited 
mobility. 

The proposal made was an opening time 
of 10am until 4pm – in this regard 
responses indicated a potential impact on 
medical appointments and accessing 
services within the town centre

Also in terms of the proposed hire charge 
of £5 – whilst 44% of respondents agreed 
with this proposal there was also a 
significant response (39%) who 
commented on the hire charge, and 

The original proposals have been 
amended to take into consideration 
feedback from service users as detailed 
below: 

Whilst the provision is not specifically to 
allow access to doctors surgeries that 
may be located in the town consideration 
of the 10am opening has been made 
against the comments received and the 
proposal now reflects revised opening 
hours of 09:15 until 4pm.

In response to the feedback received in 
relation to the proposed fee this has now 

P
age 90



5

offered an alternative amount for 
consideration.

been amended in the proposals to £3 
instead of £5. 

The Introduction of a membership 
joining/renewal fee of £5 which would 
include the first hire on renewal or new 
membership  

Pregnancy & Maternity No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Transgender No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Marriage and Civil partnership No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Welsh language No specific impact identified from 
consultation 

None identified 

Equality Impact assessment Action Plan 
It is essential that you now complete the action plan. Once your action plan is complete, please ensure that the actions are 
mainstreamed into the relevant Service Development Plan. 
Action Lead Person Target for completion Resources needed Service 

Development plan 
for this action

Recommendations to 
cabinet to approve 
the revised proposal 
in regard of charging 
and opening times 

Group Manager 
Highways and Green 
Spaces 

January 2020 N/A

P
age 91



6

Continue to Monitor 
service provision 

Traffic and 
Transportation 
Manager 

N/A Shop mobility staff 

Please detail the name of the independent person (someone other than the person undertaking the EIA) countersigning 
this EIA below:
Countersigned: Role: Date:
Zak Shell Head of Operations - Community Services November 2019

Please outline how and when this EIA will be monitored in future and when a review will take place (max. three years):
Monitoring arrangements: Date of Review:
A review of this EIA to be monitored in relation to ongoing service provision of this facility    August 2022

Details of person completing the Full EIA:
Name: Role: Date:
Kevin Mulcahy Group Manager Highways and Green Spaces 19 November2019

Publication of a Full EIA and feedback to consultation groups
It is important that the results of this impact assessment are published in a user friendly accessible format.
It is also important that you feedback to your consultation groups with the actions that you are taking to address their concerns and 
to mitigate against any potential adverse impact.

When complete, this form must be signed off and retained by the service area. The Full EIA should be recorded as complete on share point (your 
business manager has access to share point). Where a full EIA is needed this should be included as an appendix with the relevant cabinet report 

and therefore available publically on the website.

If you have queries in relation to the use of this toolkit please contact the Equalities Team on 01656 643664 or equalities@bridgend.gov.uk

P
age 92



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

22 JANUARY 2019

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

WORK EXPERIENCE PLACEMENTS FOR SERVICE PERSONNEL LEAVING THE 
ARMED FORCES

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform Cabinet of the introduction of a Work 
Experience Placement Scheme (the scheme) for personnel leaving the Armed 
Forces as part of the Council’s commitment to the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant

2. Connection to corporate improvement objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priority:  

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible 
and support the development of resources throughout the community that 
can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

3. Background

3.1 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) recognises that it has a role to play in 
helping those leaving the Armed Forces fulfil their potential in civilian life.

3.2 Many service leavers have a clear idea of what they would like to do in civilian life.  
This is often supported by training opportunities arranged by HM Armed Forces.  
However, service leavers may lack work experience pertinent to the occupation 
they wish to enter.

3.3 Other service leavers may have little idea of what they would like to do after the 
forces and take a long time to settle into civilian life.

3.4 These factors may lead to a delay in securing work, in-work poverty or 
unemployment.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The introduction of the scheme supports Bridgend County Borough Council’s 
Armed Forces Community Covenant.

4.2 The scheme will be part of the well established BCBC Work Experience 
Programme, which offers work experience placements to individuals from a wide 
range of ages and backgrounds.

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



4.3 The existing BCBC Work Experience Protocol, Managers Guidelines and 
supporting documents will be used to facilitate the scheme.

4.4 The scheme will offer service leavers valuable work experience in a civilian setting, 
support them to build links in their home community and provide them with 
additional employability support.

4.5 For the Council, the scheme may generate a wider selection of high quality 
candidates who may not otherwise have considered a career in local government.

4.6 A nominated lead within Employabilty Bridgend will be responsible for promotion of 
the scheme to regiments who recruit in South Wales, Armed Forces Charities and 
the two Veteran Hubs in Bridgend County.

 5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 None. 

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 As an equal opportunities employer the Council recognises that a diverse 
workforce, coming from all sections of the community, can improve services by 
offering different skills, experiences, backgrounds and cultures.

6.2 An initial screening has been undertaken which identifies that a full EIA is not 
required.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The scheme contributes to the well-being goals: a Healthier Wales, a Prosperous 
Wales and a more Equal Wales. 

7.2 The five ways of working have been considered as follows:

 Long term – this may help reduce the risk of health and welfare problems as a 
result of long term unemployment and in work poverty

 Prevention - it may assist veterans to overcome barriers in finding civilian 
employment and support veterans to enjoy financial security and independence 
in later life.

 Integration – the scheme will be shared with members of the Bridgend Public 
Services Board (PSB) to encourage them to implement their own work 
experience placement scheme for serving personnel about to leave the armed 
forces.  

 Collaboration – Commitment to providing work experience placements for those 
about to leave the armed forces will require the collaboration of all directorates 
and services within the council.  Learning from the scheme will be shared with 
Bridgend PSB members

 Involvement – the work experience placement scheme is supported by the 
Bridgend Armed Forces Covenant Forum.  Membership of the forum includes 

Page 94



the council, private and public sector organisations, specialist armed forces 
charities, other 3rd sector organisations and veterans.

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications.

9. Recommendation

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet note the implementation of a work experience 
placement scheme for serving personnel about to leave the Armed Forces.

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive

Contact officer: Martin Morgans
 

Telephone: 01656 642154

Email: Martin.Morgans@Bridgend.Gov.UK
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents:
None

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

21 JANUARY 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet for the appointment of 
local authority governors to the school governing bodies listed at paragraph 4.1 and 
to inform Cabinet that a previous local authority governor appointment has not been 
progressed.

2. Connection to corporate improvement objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priority/priorities:  

 Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county a good 
place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that 
our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions of all 
people in the county. 

3. Background

3.1 In accordance with the Council’s ‘Guidance on the appointment of local education 
authority governors’ approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2008, officers have 
considered applications received for current and forthcoming vacancies for local 
authority governor positions on school governing bodies (see paragraph 4.1 and 
Appendix A).

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 For the seven schools in the table below, all seven applicants met the approved 
criteria for appointment as local authority governors and there was no competition for 
any of the vacancies.  Therefore, the recommended appointments are:  

Name School
Cllr David Unwin Brynteg School
Mrs Cheryll Board Pencoed Comprehensive School
Cllr Sean Aspey Porthcawl Comprehensive School
Mrs Amanda Williams Brackla Primary School
Mr Christopher Davies Llangewydd Junior School
Mr Gary Chappell Mynydd Cynffig Primary School
Mrs Janet Jones Newton Primary School

4.2 Subject to the above appointments being approved, there are still 25 vacancies that 
need to be filled in 17 schools (see Appendix A).

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



4.3 At the meeting held on 17 September 2019, Cabinet approved a local authority 
governor appointment to the governing body of Nottage Primary School.  However, it 
was subsequently identified that there was no vacancy for a local authority governor 
on the governing body at that time and the vacancy was advertised in error. 
Therefore, the appointment can no longer be progressed and the appointee has been 
advised accordingly.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An assessment of the appointment of local authority governors identifies that there 
are no equality issues related to this report. 

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 A Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 
completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is as follows:

Long-term

While it is desirable for local authority governors to have previous or relevant 
experience of the role, in the short-term, the local authority may support any person 
for such an appointment who is interested in supporting schools, is not disqualified 
from being a school governor and is willing and able to dedicate the necessary time 
to the role.  

Prevention

The local authority assesses the suitability of applicants for the local authority 
governor vacancy/vacancies applied for. The local authority, in conjunction with the 
Central South Consortium, supports governors with a comprehensive programme of 
both mandatory and voluntary training and access to resources, to enable them to 
develop and maintain their knowledge and skills, and be successful in fulfilling the 
role.   

Integration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in running schools and ensuring that 
all pupils are supported to learn and achieve so that they can access opportunities 
for further learning and employment, know how to maintain their wellbeing, can play 
active roles in their communities and can contribute positively to society as a whole. 

Collaboration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in ensuring that schools safeguard 
the health and wellbeing of pupils and staff. The local authority, in conjunction with 
the Central South Consortium, provides training to governors to enable them to 

Page 98



develop and maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and effectiveness in this 
respect.  

Involvement

The local authority treats all applications for local authority governor vacancies 
fairly, to ensure equality of opportunity. School governing bodies have a strategic 
role in ensuring that schools safeguard the health and wellbeing of pupils and staff. 
The local authority, in conjunction with the Central South Consortium, provides 
training to governors to enable them to develop and maintain their relevant 
knowledge, skills and effectiveness in this respect.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to approve the appointments listed at paragraph 4.1 and to 
note the position outlined in paragraph 4.3.

Mr Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director, Education and Family Support

Contact officer: Mandy Jones
Learner Support Officer

Telephone: (01656) 642629

E-mail: Amanda.Jones@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents

 Bridgend County Borough Council’s ‘Guidance on the appointment of local 
education authority governors’, approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2008

 The Government of Maintained Schools (Wales) Regulations 2005
 Well-being of Future Generations Assessment.  

Page 99



Appendix A

Local authority governor vacancies: current and forthcoming 
(up to the end of April 2020)

Name of school
Number of current and forthcoming 
vacancies

Archbishop McGrath Catholic High School 1
Brynteg School 1
Abercerdin Primary School 2
Bryncethin Primary School 1
Bryntirion Infants School 2 (from February 2020)
Cefn Cribwr Primary School 1
Cwmfelin Primary School 1 
Llangewydd Junior School 1 
Llangynwyd Primary School 3 
Mynydd Cynffig Primary School 1
Nantymoel Primary School 1
Ogmore Vale Primary School 2 (1 from February 2020)
Porthcawl Primary School 1
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School 1
St Robert’s Roman Catholic Primary School 2
Tondu Primary School 2
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Calon Y Cymoedd 2
TOTAL VACANCIES 25

Page 100



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

21 JANUARY 2020   

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES

INFORMATION REPORT FOR NOTING

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the Information Report for noting 
which has been published since its last scheduled meeting.

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives/Corporate Priorities

2.1 The report relates to the corporate priority/priorities:  

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible 
and support the development of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

3. Background

3.1 At a previous meeting of Cabinet, it was resolved to approve a revised procedure for the 
presentation to Cabinet of Information Reports for noting.

4. Current situation / proposal                                                                     

4.1 Information Reports

The following information report has been published since the last meeting of Cabinet:-    

Title                                                                                   Date published
                                                                                         
Treasury Management – Quarter 3 Report 2019-20       15 January 2020 
                      

4.2 Availability of Documents

The document has been circulated to Elected Members electronically via 
Email and placed on the BCBC website, and is also available from the date of 
publication.
 

5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules

5.1 This procedure has been adopted within the procedure rules of the Constitution.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no negative equality implications arising from this report.  

Page 101

Agenda Item 11



7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial Implications.

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report. 

9. Recommendation.

9.1 That Cabinet acknowledges the publication of the document listed in this report.

K Watson
Chief officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
15 January 2020    

Contact Officer: Andrew Rees
Telephone: (01656) 643147
Email: cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Democratic Services
Legal and Regulatory Services
Civic Offices
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None. 

Page 102

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

INFORMATION REPORT TO CABINET 
 

21 JANUARY 2020 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM HEAD OF FINANCE & SECTION 151 OFFICER 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT – QUARTER 3 REPORT 2019-20 
 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to:- 
 

 Comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice’ (the Code) to produce interim Treasury Management 
Reports. 
 

 Report on the projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2019-20.  
 

2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 
Priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate priority:   

 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the development of resources 
throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities.  

 
2.2 The Treasury Management Report is integral to the delivery of the Corporate 

Improvement Objectives as the allocation of resources determines the extent 
to which the Corporate Objectives can be delivered. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 

borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  

 
3.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 
Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy 
(TMS) before the start of each financial year. The CIPFA Code also requires 

Page 103



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

the Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators which are 
forward looking parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its 
exposure to treasury management risks and these are included throughout this 
report. In addition, the Welsh Government issued revised Guidance on Local 
Authority Investments in November 2019 that requires the Council to approve 
an Investment Strategy before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils 
the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance. 

 
3.3 In 2017 CIPFA also published a new version of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). The updated Prudential 
Code includes a new requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital 
Strategy, which is a summary document approved by full Council covering 
capital expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury 
investments. The definition of investments in the revised 2017 CIPFA Code now 
covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial 
assets which the Authority holds primarily for financial return. The Council’s 
Capital Strategy 2019-20, complying with CIPFA’s requirement includes the 
Prudential Indicators which in previous years were included in the TMS, along 
with details regarding the Council’s non-treasury investments.  

 
3.4 The Capital Strategy and TMS should be read in conjunction with each other as 

they are interlinked as borrowing and investments are directly impacted upon 
by capital plans and were approved together by Council on 20 February 2019. 

 
3.5 The Council’s treasury management advisors are Arlingclose. The current 

services provided to the Council include:- 

 advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports 
 advice on investment decisions 
 notification of credit ratings and changes 
 other information on credit quality 
 advice on debt management decisions 
 accounting advice 
 reports on treasury performance 
 forecasts of interest rates 
 training courses  

 
4. Current Situation / Proposal  
 
4.1    Economic Context  

 
4.1.1 The interest rate views incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2019-20 were based 

upon officers’ views supported by a forecast from Arlingclose. When the TMS 
2019-20 was prepared in January 2019, due to the anticipated short time for a 
Brexit withdrawal deal to be agreed and the possibility of an extended period of 
uncertainty over the possible outcome, Arlingclose’s central case scenario was 

Page 104



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

forecasting a 0.25% rise in the Bank Rate during 2019-20 to take official UK 
interest rates to 1.00% by December 2019. 
 

4.1.2 The Bank Rate started the financial year at 0.75% and the current forecast is 
that the Bank Rate will remain at this level for the foreseeable future. 
Substantial risks to this forecast remain, arising primarily from the government’s 
policy around Brexit and the transitionary period.  

4.2    External Debt and Investment Position  
 

4.2.1 On 31 December 2019, the Council held £96.87 million of external long-term 
borrowing and £38.945 million of investments. The external debt and investment 
position for 1 April to 31 December 2019 is shown below in Table 1; more detail 
is provided in section 4.3 - Borrowing Strategy and Outturn, and section 4.4 - 
Investment Strategy and Outturn.  

 
           Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position 1 April to 31 December 

2019 
 

 

Principal 
as at  

01-04-19 
£m 

Average 
Rate  

01-04-19 
       % 

Principal 
as at  

31-12-19 
£m 

Average 
Rate  

31-12-19 
% 

External Long Term Borrowing: 
Public Works Loan Board 
Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option  

 
77.62 
19.25 

 
4.70 
4.65 

 
77.62 
19.25 

 
4.70 
4.65 

Total External Long Term Borrowing 96.87 4.69 96.87 4.69 

Other Long Term Liabilities (LTL)  
Private Finance Initiative (PFI)* 
Other LTL 
Total Other Long Term Liabilities 

 
 17.00 
   0.88 
 17.88 

 
 

 
16.83 
  1.22 
18.05 

 

Total Gross Long Term External Debt 114.75    114.92  

Treasury investments: 
Banks 
Building Societies 
Local Authorities 
Money Market Funds** 

 
5.40 
1.00 

21.00 
- 

 
0.86 
0.90 
0.96 

- 

    
     4.90 
     2.00 
   22.50 
     9.55 

 
0.91 
0.78 
0.91 
0.74 

Total treasury investments 27.40 0.94 38.95 0.86 

Net Debt 87.35  75.97  
 * (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 14.5 years remaining term 

**the fund provides instant access  

 
4.2.2 Where a Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside revenue 

resources to repay that debt in later years and this amount charged to revenue 
is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Local Authority (Capital 
Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2008  requires the 
Council to produce and approve an annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 

Page 105



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

Statement before the start of the financial year that details the methodology for 
the MRP charge and this is detailed in the Council’s Capital Strategy. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment. The Council’s current 
strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing. This strategy is prudent as investment 
returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high. The Council is 
forecasting an increased CFR due to the amount of prudential borrowing in the 
capital programme and the MRP policy approved by Council in September 
2018.  

 
4.2.3 The liability benchmark has been calculated and compares the Council’s actual 

borrowing against an alternative strategy, showing the lowest risk level of 
borrowing. Table 2 below has been produced using estimates of capital spend 
and forecasts on usable reserves for the current financial year. These estimates 
highlight that the Loans CFR, which is the Council’s need to borrow to fund 
capital expenditure, is increasing in line with the capital programme as 
highlighted in paragraph 4.2.2 above.  The Loans CFR ignores cash balances 
and may be too high if the authority benefits from long term positive cash flows 
which this Council does benefit from. The benchmark assumes that cash and 
investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10 million at each year-
end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. It shows a liability 
benchmark of £111 million at the end of the financial year. The Council will have 
debt above or below this amount, which will leave it with excess cash or a 
borrowing need respectively. The Council feels it is prudent to maintain an 
under-borrowed position. 

 
           Table 2: Liability benchmark  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2018-19 
Actual 

 
£m  

2019-20 
Estimate 

TMS 2019-20 
£m  

2019-20 
Projection 

 
£m  

Loans CFR  155 161 165 

Less: Usable reserves -77            -55 -58 

Working capital -5                   -                 -6 

Plus: Minimum investments 10                  10                10 

Liability Benchmark                 83                116              111 

Page 106



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

4.3 Borrowing Strategy and Outturn  
 

4.3.1 At 31 December 2019, the Council held £96.87 million of long-term loans as 
part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. The TMS 
2019-20 forecast that the Council would need to borrow £16 million in 2019-20. 
It is now forecast that there will be no long term borrowing requirement in 2019-
20 due to additional grants being received in the last quarter of 2018-19 and a 
change in the capital programme for 2019-20. More detail is provided in the 
Capital Strategy 2019-20 and the Capital Monitoring report. 
 

4.3.2 The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  
The flexibility to renegotiate loans, should the Council’s long-term plans 
change, is a secondary objective. Therefore the major objectives to be 
followed in 2019-20 are: 

 
 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 
 to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year 

with a high level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  
 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with 

future risk 
 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take 

greater advantage of interest rate movement 
 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential 

savings as interest rates change 
 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both supported 

and unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital and 
grants and contributions 

 
4.3.3 Given the recent significant cuts to public expenditure and in particular to local 

government funding, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to address the 
key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term stability of the 
debt portfolio. The uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks 
associated with treasury activity.  As a result the Council will take a cautious 
approach to its treasury strategy. With short-term interest rates currently much 
lower than long term rates, it is likely to be more cost effective in the short term 
to either use internal resources or take out short term loans instead. 

4.3.4 The Council’s primary objective for the management of its debt is to ensure its 
long term affordability. The majority of its loans have therefore been taken out 
with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at long term fixed rates of interest 
but we will also investigate other sources of finance, such as Welsh 
Government and local authority loans and bank loans that may be available at 
more favourable rates.  

 
4.3.5 The last time the Council took out long-term borrowing was £5 million from the 

PWLB in March 2012 and, as detailed above, the current forecast is that there 

Page 107



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

will be no requirement for new long-term borrowing in 2019-20. The Council 
may take out short term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages. Market conditions have meant that there has 
been no loan rescheduling so far this year however, in conjunction with 
Arlingclose, the loan portfolio will continue to be reviewed for any potential 
savings as a result of any loan rescheduling. 

 
4.3.6 The £19.25 million in Table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s 

Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these may 
be re-scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may 
vary in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, with the lender 
exercising their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points 
and therefore the Council being given the option to accept the increase or to 
repay the loan without incurring a penalty. The lender did not exercise their 
option on 22 July 2019 and the next trigger point is 22 January 2020. The lender 
is unlikely to exercise their option in the current low interest rate environment, 
however, an element of refinancing risk remains.  The Council would take the 
option to repay these loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so in the 
future. The current average interest rate for these LOBO’s is 4.65% compared 
to the PWLB Loans average interest rate of 4.70%.  

 
4.3.7 The Treasury Management indicator shown in Table 3 below is for the Maturity 

Structure of Borrowing and is set for the forthcoming financial year to control 
the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of the 
Council’s external borrowing, and has been set to allow for the possible 
restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall 
saving or reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in 
each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower 
limits on the maturity structure of borrowing set out in the TMS 2019-20 and the 
projection for 2019-20 is: 

 
           Table 3: Treasury Management Indicator Maturity Structure of Borrowing 2019-20 
 
 

 
 
The 19.87% shown in Table 3 above relates to the £19.25 million LOBO loans 
which may be re-scheduled in advance of their maturity date of 2054, as 
detailed in paragraph 4.3.6. The Code requires the maturity of LOBO loans to 
be shown as the earliest date on which the lender can require payment, i.e. the 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  
Maturity structure of  borrowing 
2019-20 

TMS 2019-20 
Upper limit 

% 

TMS 2019-20 
Lower limit 

% 

Projection  
31-3-20 

% 
 Under 12 months  50 0 19.87 
 12 months and within 24 months 25 0 - 
 24 months and within 5 years 25 0 - 
 5 years and within 10 years 40 0 13.91 
 10 years and within 20 years 50 0 23.49 
  20 years and above 60 25 42.73 

Page 108



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

option/call dates in 2019-20, so the maturity date is actually uncertain but is 
shown in the “Under 12 months” category as per the Code 
 

4.4 Investment Strategy and Outturn 
 

4.4.1 Both the CIPFA Code and the WG Guidance require the Council to invest its 
funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between 
risk and return, balancing the risk of incurring losses from defaults against 
receiving unsuitably low investment income.  

The major objectives during 2019-20 are:-  

 To maintain capital security 
 To maintain  liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  
 To achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels 

of security and liquidity 
 
4.4.2 The Annual Investment Strategy incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2019-20 

includes the credit ratings defined for each category of investments and the 
liquidity of investments. The Council’s investments have historically been placed 
in mainly short term bank and building society unsecured deposits and local and 
central government.  However, investments may be made with any public or 
private sector organisations that meet the minimum credit criteria and 
investment limits specified in the Investment Strategy. The majority of the 
Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in Money Market Funds and with 
other local authorities but the Council will continue to look at investment options 
in line with the limits detailed in the Investment Strategy. 
 

4.4.3 The Council holds surplus funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves and as shown in Table 1 above the 
balance on investments at 31 December 2019 was £38.945 million. Table 4 
below details these investments by counterparty type. The average investment 
rate in the period 1 April to 31 December 2019 was 0.87% and was 0.71% at 31 
December 2019 (as set out in Table 1). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

Table 4: Investments Profile 1 April to 31 December 2019 

Investment 
Counterparty 

Category 

Balance 
01 

April 
2019 
(A) 
£m 

Investments 
raised 

 
(B) 

 
£m 

Investments 
Repaid 

 
(C) 

 
£m 

Balance 
31 Dec 
2019 

(A+B-
C) 
£m 

Investment 
income 

received** 
Apr-Dec 

2019 
£’000 

Average 
original 
duration 

of the 
investment 

Days 

Weighted 
average 

investment 
balance 
Apr-Dec 

£m 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate Apr-
Dec 
% 

Government 
DMO 

 
- 

 
44.70 

 
44.70 

 
- 

 
16.43 

 
5 

 
1.81 

 
0.50 

Local Authorities 21.00 27.50 26.00 22.50 168.23 298 21.89 0.97 
Banks (Fixed 
Maturity) 

 
4.00 

 
4.00 

 
4.00 

 
4.00 

 
23.43 

 
201 

 
3.33 

 
1.02 

Building 
Societies 

 
1.00 

 
4.00 

 
3.00 

 
2.00 

 
2.07 

 
138 

 
3.87 

 
0.91 

Banks Instant 
Access/ Notice 
account* 

 
 

1.40 

 
 

36.87 

 
 

37.37 

 
 

0.90 

 
 

16.79 

 
 

n/a 

 
 

5.61 

 
 

0.85 
Money Market 
Fund (instant 
access)* 

 
 

- 

 
 

75.15 

 
 

65.60 

 
 

9.55 

 
 

73.98 

 
 

n/a 

 
 

15.23 

 
 

0.73 
Total/Average 27.40 192.22 180.67 38.95 300.93 160 51.73 0.87 

 

* An average duration is not shown as there is no original duration as instant access or notice period and money is added and   
withdrawn to/from these accounts as required by cash-flow   

** Received in the Council’s bank account not interest earned 

4.4.4 The Treasury Management indicator shown below in Table 5 is for Principal 
Sums Invested for periods longer than a year. Where the Council invests, 
or plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an upper limit is set for each 
forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. The purpose 
of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses 
by seeking early repayment of long term investments. The limit on the long term 
principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end are set out in 
the TMS 2019-20. 

 
Table 5: Treasury Management Indicator Principal Sums Invested for periods 
               longer than a year 
 

Price risk indicator TMS 2019-20 
£m 

Projection 31-3-20 
£m 

Limit  on principal invested beyond 
financial year end 

 
15 

 
4 

 
All investments longer than 365 days (non-specified) will be made with a 
cautious approach to cash flow requirements and advice from Arlingclose will 
be sought as necessary.  

 
4.4.5 There are two long term investments (original duration of 12 months or more) 

outstanding at 31 December 2019 totalling £4 million with Local Authorities, 
maturing in 2020-21. All other investments at 31 December 2019 were short 
term deposits including MMFs, Local Authorities, instant access and notice 

Page 110



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

accounts. Table 6 below details these investments by counterparty type based 
on the remaining maturity period as at 31 December 2019: 

 
Table 6: Investments Outstanding Maturity Profile 31 December 2019 

Counterparty Instant  Deposits Deposits Deposits Total Total 

Category Access Maturing Maturing Maturing    

    Within Within Within    

  
  

  1 
Month 

  2-3 
Months 

4-12 
Months 

  
 

  £m £m £m £m £m % 

Local Authorities   8.50   14.00 22.5 58% 

Banks 0.90 2.00   2.00 4.9 12% 

Building Societies       2.00 2 5% 

Money Market 
Fund 

9.55       9.55 
25% 

Total 10.45 10.50 0.00 18.00 38.95 100% 

 

4.4.6 Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies to ensure that this lies 
within the Council’s agreed minimum credit rating. Where available the credit 
rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, 
otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions 
are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors 
including external advice will be taken into account. Appendix A shows the 
equivalence table for credit ratings for three of the main rating agencies Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the different investment grades. 
The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having 
a credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country 
with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher.  

4.4.7 The pie chart below summarises Table 6 by credit ratings and shows the 
£38.945 million investments at 31 December 2019 by percentage outstanding. 
Most Local Authorities do not have credit ratings and the £2 million invested 
with an A- rated building society was an approved counterparty by Arlingclose 
whilst the remainder of the investments all had a credit rating of A or above.  
 

Page 111



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

 

4.5 Interest Rate Exposures – Borrowing and Investments 
 
4.5.1 The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 

investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing 
financial instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the 
Council to the risk of short term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to 
the Treasury Management indicator in Table 7 below to manage Interest Rate 
Exposures. 

 

Table 7: Treasury Management Indicator Interest Rate Exposures 

Interest rate risk indicator Indicator 
£’000 

Actual 31-12-19 
£’000 

One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (140) (83) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 315    264  

4.5.2 This indicator has been set as an indicator (not a limit) to measure the net impact 
over one year on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in all 
interest rates for borrowing net of treasury investments. This is calculated  at a 
point in time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments will be 
replaced at rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise have been on 
their maturity dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing portfolios 
remain unchanged over the coming year. Interest rates can move by more than 
1% over the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 

4.5.3 The figures for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator are not the same figures as 
the 1% rise in interest rates (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable 
LOBO loans where it is assumed that the lender would not exercise their option 
if there was a fall in interest rates. All other borrowing does not have a rate reset 
in the next year and is with the PWLB at fixed rates. 

AA-, 25%

A+, 13%

A-, 5%

LOCAL 
AUTHORITY, 

57%

Credit Ratings

AA- A+ A- LOCAL AUTHORITY

Page 112



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 20.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

all investments and borrowing transactions have been undertaken in 
accordance with the TMS 2019-20 as approved by Council with due regard to 
the requirements of the CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
the Public Services. 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 There are no equality implications. 
 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. As the report is for information only and is retrospective in nature it 
is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1      The financial implications are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 

 Note the Council’s treasury management activities for the period 1 April 2019 
to 31 December 2019; 

 Note the projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2019-20 against the 
ones approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20. 
 

Gill Lewis 
Interim Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
10 January 2019 
 
Contact Officer: Nigel Smith 
   Group Manager – Chief Accountant  
Telephone:  01656 643605 
E-mail:  nigel.smith@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council 
   Chief Executives - Finance 
   Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:  
Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 

Page 113



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch are the three most significant rating 
agencies in the world.  These agencies rate the creditworthiness of countries and 
private enterprises. 
 
“AAA” or Aaa” is the highest rating across all three rating agencies and indicates the 
highest level of creditworthiness.  A “D” rating (“C” rating from Moody’s) indicates poor 
creditworthiness of a company or government.  A difference is made between short-
term and long-term ratings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

 
 
 
 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Budget Monitoring 2019-20 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast
	Appendix 1 - Monitoring of Prior Year Budget Reductions Carried Forward into 2019-20
	Appendix 2 - 2019-20 MTFS Budget Reductions Risk Tracker December 2019
	Appendix 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring end September 2019

	5 Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2019-20
	Capital Monitoring Report Qtr 3 Appendix A
	Capital Monitoring Report Qtr 3 Appendix B
	Capital Monitoring Report Qtr 3 Appendix C

	6 Non Domestic Rates: Discretionary Relief: High Street And Retail Rates Relief Scheme 2020-21
	7 Redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall
	8 Bridgend Shopmobility Scheme
	Appendix 1 Shop mobility EIA

	9 Work Experience Placements for Service Personnel Leaving the Armed Forces
	10 Appointment of Local Authority Governors
	11 Information Reports for Noting
	Treasury Management Report Qtr3 Cabinet

	14 School Modernisation Programme: Band B

